

### **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

## **Elementary Teacher Experiences Implementing Required English Language Arts Instructional Strategies**

Amanda Slaysman Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Education Commons, and the Education Policy Commons

# Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Amanda Slaysman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Julie Frese, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Caroline Crawford, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

#### Abstract

# Elementary Teacher Experiences Implementing Required English Language Arts Instructional Strategies

by

Amanda Slaysman

MA, Towson University, 2017

BS, Salisbury University, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

**Doctor of Education** 

Walden University

August 2023

#### Abstract

The problem addressed in this study was that in response to low standardized test scores, instructional strategies were required to be implemented in English Language Arts (ELA), but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the study site experienced challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. The explored teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies to meet student learning needs. The study was grounded by Vygotsky's social development theory which posited that learning occurs most effectively through peer collaboration and adult guidance. These concepts were the foundation of the required ELA instructional strategies. The research questions focused on teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing ELA instructional strategies that involved both peer collaboration and adult guidance. For this basic qualitative design, semistructured interviews were conducted with 10 teachers from one elementary school. After transcribing the Zoom interviews, open and axial coding were applied to reveal the following four themes: teachers prioritized responding to students' learning needs; teachers require clarity and support for consistent implementation; teachers are challenged by learner variability; and teachers want more autonomy in using instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs in ELA. The findings guided the development of a policy recommendation paper that included revision to Professional Development (PD) policy suggesting responsive PD for teachers' engagement with educational research on ELA instructional strategies. The recommendations influence positive social change by reshaping the role of the teacher as a key stakeholder involved in policy revision and developing teachers' engagement with educational research surrounding the implementation of ELA instructional strategies.

# Elementary Teacher Experiences Implementing Required English Language Arts Instructional Strategies

by

Amanda Slaysman

MA, Towson University, 2017

BS, Salisbury University, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

**Doctor of Education** 

Walden University

August 2023

#### Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to my parents, Carrie & Steven Slaysman. To my mom, thank you for your unwavering support in all that I have set out to accomplish. Your belief in me gives me the strength and courage to overcome the most challenging obstacles. Thank you for showing me how to persevere through uncertainty and hardships by working hard and doing so with grace and positivity. To my dad, thank you for instilling in me that with dedication, persistence, and commitment, anything is within reach. Time spent learning from you are my fondest memories. Mom and dad, your love guides me through all my life's endeavors. I am forever grateful for your sacrifices, example, and guidance.

I also dedicate this doctoral study to my grandmother, Gwen Fishpaw. Thank you for showing me how to lead with love. My doctoral journey blossomed from a passion for helping to improve the lives of young people, which stemmed from your lifelong commitment to helping and understanding others. Thank you for your constant support and encouragement.

#### Acknowledgments

The completion of this doctoral study would not have been possible without the guidance and dedication of my Walden University committee chair, Dr. Frese. Thank you for your commitment to my success throughout this journey. Specifically, thank you for going above and beyond to guide me through this process. Your belief in my abilities never wavered, and I am so appreciative of your guidance. I have learned so much about teaching, learning, and leading from you, Dr. Frese. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Crawford, second committee member. Thank you for your thoughtful feedback and reflections. Throughout the most difficult aspects of this process, you always managed to reinvigorate my passion for completing this study.

## Table of Contents

List of Tables	V			
Section 1: The Problem				
The Local Problem	1			
Rationale	3			
Evidence of the Problem from the Literature	3			
Local Evidence of the Problem	5			
Definition of Terms	6			
Significance of the Study	8			
Research Questions	9			
Review of Literature	10			
Conceptual Framework	10			
Review of the Broader Problem	15			
Implications	29			
Summary	31			
Section 2: The Methodology3				
Research Design and Approach	32			
Participants	35			
Criteria for Selecting Participants				
Justification of the Number of Participants	36			
Gaining Access to Participants	37			

Establishing a Researcher-Participant Working Relationship	38
Protection of Participants' Rights	39
Data Collection	40
Justification of Data Collection	40
Instrumentation	42
Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	43
Processes for Data Collection	44
Role of the Researcher	45
Data Analysis	45
Evidence of Quality and Trustworthiness	47
Procedures for Discrepant Cases	49
Summary	51
Data Analysis Results	51
Data Generation Process	51
Findings from Problem and Research Questions	53
Patterns, Relationships, and Themes as Findings	56
Discrepant Cases	70
Evidence of Quality	71
Introduction	71
Credibility	72
Transferability	74
Dependability	75

	Confirmability	77
	Summary of Outcomes	78
	Project Deliverable	82
Sec	ction 3: The Project	83
	Introduction	83
	Rationale	85
	Project Review of Literature	89
	Policy Recommendation	89
	Teachers' Engagement with Educational Research	92
	Project Description	95
	Policy Recommendations	95
	Resources, Existing Supports, Potential Barriers, and Potential Solutions	98
	Project Evaluation Plan	100
	Goal One Evaluation	101
	Goal Two Evaluation	102
	Goal Three Evaluation	103
	Goal Four Evaluation	104
	Project Implications	104
	Social Change Implications	104
	Importance of Project to Local Stakeholders	105
	Large Scale Social Change	106
	Conclusion	106

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions			
Project Strengths and Limitations	108		
Project Strengths	109		
Project Limitations	110		
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	112		
Scholarship, Project Development, Leadership, and Change	113		
Reflection on the Importance of the Work	115		
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	117		
Implications and Applications	117		
Potential Impact for Positive Social Change	118		
Directions for Future Research	121		
Conclusion	122		
References	124		
Appendix A: The Project	136		
Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Elementary ELA Teachers	165		
Appendix C: Project Evaluation: Focus Group Discussion Ouestions			

## List of Tables

Table 1	Research Questions and A priori Codes	55
Table 2	Examples of Open Codes and Patterns	57
Table 3	Examples of Codes, Themes and Subthemes	60

#### Section 1: The Problem

#### The Local Problem

From 2015 to 2022 district leaders in the Eastern State school district have revised the elementary English Language Arts (ELA) curriculum in response to national and state standards and to increase student achievement. The ELA curricula include whole class and small-group pathways that outline instructional strategies, resources, and examples for teachers to use in their classrooms. The instructional strategies embedded in the curriculum are evidence-based and involve adult guidance and peer collaboration.

Implementing specific strategies such as direct vocabulary instruction, modeling, scaffolding, and peer collaboration are written as requirements for ELA teachers in the district strategic plan. Instructional strategies that include peer collaboration and adult guidance can increase student achievement when they are implemented effectively (Goodwin et al., 2021).

According to the strategic plan and the teaching and learning framework on the district website, and the ELA curriculum, the district supports explicit modeling using the think-aloud strategy. Another strategy supported by the district is that teachers identify and implement appropriate scaffolds for instruction to respond to students' needs and increase student independence. The problem is that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 at the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. According to meeting minutes, some teachers reported challenges

in facilitating peer collaboration due to time constraints, testing accountability, and guiding all students with think-aloud or modeling techniques.

A reading specialist in the local setting shared in a leadership meeting in September 2021 that some teachers have expressed frustrations regarding a lack of PD when attempting to implement scaffolding effectively in ELA. Van Rijk et al. (2017) suggested that it is critical to explore teachers' experiences to maximize teacher efficacy.

The evidence from the local setting supports the existence and relevance of this project study. The gap in practice is that according to the district strategic plan and the ELA curriculum, instructional strategies involving peer collaboration and adult guidance are recommended to meet their students' literacy needs. However, teachers in the study site have reported challenges when implementing the ELA instructional strategies recommended. An increase in the diversity of the population has called for differentiated and responsive instructional practices to address individual student needs (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). To address the need for responsive and individualized instruction, district leaders included implementing scaffolding ELA instruction to meet students' literacy needs as an area of focus for improvement efforts. In this study, I addressed the gap in practice between the instructional strategies embedded in the ELA curriculum and supported by the district by exploring teachers' challenges and experiences when implementing instructional strategies in their ELA classrooms.

#### Rationale

#### Evidence of the Problem from the Literature

A literacy problem exists broadly and in the local setting. In a National Assessment of Educational Progress report from 2017, 35% of fourth-grade students achieved proficiency levels in reading, and in 2019 that percentage declined to 34% (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019a). Furthermore, according to a report from the National Center of Education Statistics, the average fourth grade reading score on a standardized assessment in 2019 was lower than the 2017 score when the assessment was previously administered (Council of Opportunity in Education – Reading Performance, 2019). According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, 2023), 250 million children are failing to acquire basic literacy skills in the world. The statistics on underachievement in literacy are a symptom of the lack of improvement in reading at the local and national level.

McGown and Slate (2019) argued that many students struggle with reading. Fountas and Pinnell (2020), argued that the effectiveness of literacy education in the classroom depends on the expertise of the teacher. Teachers can experience challenges which could affect implementation of instructional strategies in ELA. For example, according to Tawfik et al. (2021) teachers are bound to accountability testing which drives their curricular and instructional strategies, and often cause teachers to adapt instruction to accommodate testing constraints.

There is evidence in the literature that utilizing instructional strategies effectively can increase student literacy achievement (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Fisher & Frey, 2018; Mariage et al., 2020; Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Taylor, 2021). However, researchers agree that modeling, scaffolding, peer-to-peer talk, and pre-teaching vocabulary can sometimes be challenging for teachers to implement effectively. For example, modeling and scaffolding are powerful instructional strategies, but teachers can experience challenges in knowing what to do when they are implementing these instructional strategies (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). Similarly, Mariage et al. (2020) suggested that teaching thinking strategies can offer powerful ways to help students develop cognitive tools. However, teachers must develop sensemaking for students, otherwise, students may not use the cognitive tools flexibly and interchangeably while reading (Mariage et al., 2020). Similarly, classroom discussions among peers and/or teachers have a positive impact on student achievement according to Fisher and Frey (2018). Van Rijk et al. (2017) argued that teachers must be resourceful, flexible, and skilled in adjusting to student needs, and have confidence in their capacities to meet those needs. Furthermore, educators must consider multiple approaches to literacy to make the most informed instructional decisions (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). However, some researchers have suggested that specific strategies such as scaffolding, pre-teaching vocabulary, explicit modeling, and peer collaboration can be misused or misunderstood to mean support provided by a teacher when a student needs help, rather than releasing responsibility for a task intentionally over time (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Mondesir & Griffin, 2020;

Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Van Rijk et al., 2017). In this study, my goal was to understand how elementary ELA teachers approach instruction.

#### **Local Evidence of the Problem**

Teachers must believe in and fully understand how to implement instructional strategies to effectively increase achievement levels in ELA (Northrop & Kelly, 2019). Minutes from grade level planning meetings from Grades 1 through 5 indicated that teachers expressed difficulty implementing small group instruction during ELA, and reported they felt challenged by scaffolding ELA concepts for struggling readers. Similarly, in minutes from a literacy action team meeting, it was noted that teachers feel challenged when attempting to include peer collaboration on ELA tasks.

According to faculty meeting minutes in March 2022, teachers in the local setting shared many challenges specific to implementing the ELA curriculum and instructional strategies required by the district. Challenges included a lack of time to implement effective small group instruction, testing constraints taking up instructional time, significant differences in student ability level, grade level standard expectations are too high, lack of ideas for different ways to scaffold for students significantly below grade level, difficulty reaching all students in one whole group mini-lesson, and lack of consistent support for struggling readers. The teachers in the local setting expressed that there are unrealistic expectations and increasing demands placed on them when implementing ELA instruction. Thus, the purpose of this study was to explore teachers'

experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Bottom-up approach: The belief that reading comprehension begins with processing letter sounds and word meanings, that will eventually lead to understanding the written word (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020).

Decoding: A component of literacy development that is phonetically based and occurs at the sound and word level. This component includes a students' ability to combine sounds to make word parts and whole words (Fountas & Pinnell, 2020).

Differentiated instruction: A process where the teacher proactively assesses students and plans lessons with strategies and approaches to student differences in readiness, interest, and learning needs. Carol Ann Tomlinson developed this instruction to personalize instruction for all students (Tomlinson, 1999).

Direct explicit instruction: Direct and explicit instruction involves teachers modeling strategies, explaining why strategies help literacy skill development and telling students when to use specific strategies. Teachers then provide students with support and feedback as students begin to apply strategies (Kamil et al., 2008).

*ELA*: A comprehensive set of standards-based curricula about the development of skills and concepts required for college and career readiness in multiple disciplines in the

academic areas of reading, writing, speaking, listening, and viewing (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, & Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010).

Evidence-based instructional strategies: A wide variety of instructional techniques that are research-based. Teachers implement these techniques to increase student achievement and ability toward educational goals (Slavin, 2020). For this study, the focus is on instructional strategies intended to improve or develop reading achievement.

More Knowledgeable Other (MKO): An individual more capable in the activity or skill being taught provides guidance and is the key to acquiring new knowledge (Pomerantez & Pierce, 2019). For this study a peer, teacher, and content experts are considered MKOs.

Professional Development (PD): Training opportunities for teachers geared towards current teaching strategies or practices (Puzio et al., 2020). PD for ELA teachers implementing instructional strategies rooted in adult guidance and peer collaboration is the focus of this study.

Professional learning communities: The collaborative process where teams take collective responsibility for ensuring that high levels of learning are achieved by all students through data analysis, sharing effective instructional practices, and goal setting among other activities (DuFour et al., 2018).

Reading comprehension: The goal of reading, which is to understand what is written, reading comprehension incorporates other areas of language such as syntax, semantics, pragmatics, and morphology to make meaning of a text (Squires, 2018).

*Scaffolding*: Instructional techniques used to meet students at their instructional level and slowly build student mastery of educational skills and ability (Vygotsky, 2011).

Small group instruction: Teaching a subset of students within the larger classroom based on data informing a broad range of criteria including readiness levels, skill, and/or interests (Tomlinson, 1999).

Top-down approach: An approach to literacy development that begins with an understanding of the central idea of a text, then readers focus on the lower-level processes that create the overall message like individual words and phrases (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020).

#### Significance of the Study

The instructional strategies teachers use and implement regularly have an impact on the student achievement levels in ELA (Goodwin et al., 2021). Therefore, an exploration of the experiences and challenges teachers' have in the implementation of ELA instructional strategies could inform school and district leaders on the instructional strategies ELA teachers find most challenging and/or most effective. Gaining insight into teachers' experiences could influence district leaders' knowledge on how to enhance or support future PD or policy. The findings of this study may be used by administrators at the study site for insight into the challenges teachers experience when implementing the

ELA instructional strategies as written. Teachers' experiences provide valuable insight for educational leaders (Hikida, 2018). In this study, I uncovered areas of strength or need for teachers in ELA strategy instruction. Finally, administrators may gain insight from teachers on the feasibility of the instructional expectations at the study site.

The findings in this project study may result in positive social change because the results may lead to individualized PD efforts that are designed related to the teachers' experiences when implementing ELA instructional strategies. A professional learning community within each school works to facilitate ongoing examination of teaching and learning to make school-wide improvements according to the 2022 district strategic plan. The findings from this study could enhance the efforts of the professional learning community at the study site by including formative data on teachers' experiences, and challenges in implementing ELA instructional strategies. Finally, instructional strategies in which students and teachers collaborate have been linked to an increase in reading achievement of elementary students on standardized reading assessments (Goodwin et al., 2021). Bringing awareness to teachers' current challenges and experiences while implementing ELA instructional strategies involving peer collaboration, and adult guidance may influence future policy and curriculum development efforts on ELA strategies that are linked to an increase in achievement levels for students.

#### **Research Questions**

Research questions (RQs) are used to convey what the researcher aims to answer (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I based the research questions in this project study on Vygotsky's

(1978) Social Development Theory (SDT). Vygotsky (1978) believed that to facilitate learning most effectively, social interactions, including peer collaboration and adult guidance, should be used. I designed the following RQs to guide this study:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What are the teacher experiences implementing required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1 through 5?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What are the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1 through 5?

#### **Review of Literature**

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was Vygotsky's (1978) SDT, in which Vygotsky suggested that the social interactions a person experiences develops their cognition. The interactions a child has with language in both oral and printed forms influence their development (Tracey & Morrow, 2017). Children develop communication skills through social situations they experience at an early age within specific situations according to cultural expectations (Vygotsky, 1978). Vygotsky believed that human beings are social and must communicate with each other in a learning environment of any kind, to be successful (Vygotsky, 1993). In Vygotsky's SDT, he posited that language is the basis of learning and establishes the foundation for academic skills such as reading and writing.

#### **Key Elements**

The basic tenets of the SDT include social interaction and cognitive development (SICD), MKO, and the zone of proximal development (ZPD). At the core of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT is the use of adult guidance. Framed by adult guidance, the themes that emerge from this study highlight how the ELA instructional strategies included in the curriculum and supported by the district are interpreted by the ELA teachers, and how adult guidance is implemented through instructional strategies in elementary classrooms. In Vygotsky's (1978) SDT, he explained that learning is an active and social process and must be centered on the culture of the learner. Interview questions highlight the extent to which teachers acknowledge perceive, and experience social interactions including peer collaborative strategies, and adult guidance and their experiences in implementing them.

ZPD. The ZPD is the cognitive space between working with assistance and working independently (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Vygotsky, 1978). The gap between what the child can accomplish alone and what the child can do with adult guidance is identified as the ZPD (Eun, 2019). Vygotsky (2011) rejected the idea that children should be judged only on what they can accomplish independently. Instead, he argued that learning potential is of greater value to educating the whole child and can be accounted for based on what a child can do with adult support, demonstration, or with support from their peers. Tracey and Morrow (2017) explained the ZPD as the ideal level of task difficulty needed to facilitate learning. Therefore, instruction within the appropriate ZPD coupled with support from an MKO is the most ideal environment to

increase a learner's capability to reach autonomy on a targeted skill (Tracey & Morrow, 2017; Vygotsky, 1978). As such, teachers may implement scaffolding or other instructional strategies within a child's ZPD to effectively improve a child's achievement levels (Bondie et al., 2019; Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018).

Scaffolding and MKOs. The ZPD concept is built upon the constructivist view that teachers can help students reach their full academic potential (Van Rijk et al., 2017). Vygotsky believed that guidance and collaboration from someone more capable, a peer or MKO, is the key to acquiring new knowledge (Pomerantez & Pierce, 2019). A teacher (MKO) must be knowledgeable and aware to target the areas that are sensitive to instruction during a specific time (ZPD) with the appropriate support and guidance (Eun, 2019).

According to Pletcher et al. (2019), once the learner's ZPD is discovered, scaffolding can be used by the MKO to move learners through their ZPD to an understanding of the concept or skill (Pletcher et al., 2019). Scaffolding, an instructional strategy, is implemented through adult guidance or from an MKO, and increases student achievement (Bondie et al., 2019; Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Tomlinson, 1999; Van Rijk et al., 2017). Thus, to assist students in reaching their full potential in ELA, teachers are recommended to implement scaffolding based on observation of student achievement and progress toward the targeted skill (Van Rijk et al., 2017).

Fine-tuning instructional strategies to match the students' ZPD requires constant alteration of teacher support that provides support or challenges the student based on the

students' immediate need (Zucker et al., 2020). Additionally, Pletcher et al. (2019) noted that scaffolded support is reduced as the learner gains knowledge and demonstrates mastery of the skill. For this study, the most relevant elements of ZPD and scaffolding include establishing activities to support learning, identifying the effectiveness of the activities to support student independence, and gradually allowing the student to hold independent responsibility for the activities (see Van Rijk et al., 2017; Vygotsky 1978). However, a review of empirical studies conducted by Brownfield and Wilkinson (2018) argued that the term scaffolding is so widely used, that the term has taken on a very broad meaning with multiple conflations when referring to literacy instruction.

#### SDT and Teachers' Perceptions of ELA instructional Strategies

The SDT provides a means of interpreting the instructional strategies teachers currently implement to respond to students' literacy needs in their ELA classrooms. Some instructional strategies highlighted in the literature include explicit vocabulary instruction, scaffolding, the modeling with the think-aloud, and peer collaboration (Goodwin et al., 2021; Van Rijk et al., 2017), which stem from the basic tenets of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT involving social interactions of peers and guidance by adults. The instructional strategies are embedded within the ELA curriculum and recommended by the district as evidenced by the strategic plan and framework for teaching and learning. Thompson's (2013) research supports Vygotsky's idea that writing, like reading, is a socially developmental process of both teaching and learning. Thompson's research supported teaching through collaborative efforts to address the intricacies of ZPD. In both

reading and writing, the phases of ZPD can be seen. According to Thompson, the procedure is both individual and social.

Vygotsky (1978) believed that there is a difference between learning and developing. The ZPD is the gap between what a child can do with assistance and what a child can do independently and scaffolding can fill that gap if done appropriately (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Pletcher et al., 2019). Time spent on scaffolded activities with adult guidance, however, does not directly decrease the time students spend in the same ZPD (Margolis, 2020). Time is noted as a critical influence on ZPD and scaffolding effectiveness (Margolis, 2020; Smagorinsky, 2018). In this study, I explored the experiences and challenges teachers had when implementing instructional strategies built on Vygotsky's SDT in their ELA classrooms in response to their students' learning needs.

The literacy instructional strategies required by the district, peer-to-peer talk, preteaching vocabulary, explicit modeling using the think-aloud, and scaffolding are rooted
in the SDT tenets and constructivist in nature. As students reflect on information with
their peers, combine new vocabulary to existing understandings, and make metacognitive
connections through think-alouds, students are building their existing schemas and
making sense of their world (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). Vygotsky (1978) found that
teachers' and students' interaction enhances cognitive development. Vygotsky (1978)
argued that students are capable of meeting targets with scaffolding more so than from a
teacher lecturing students on academic skills. The strategies required by the district allow

students to construct knowledge, rather than passively acquire learning from their teachers.

#### **Review of the Broader Problem**

Meeting the diverse needs of the students in classrooms across the United States is a significant challenge for educators (Puzio et al., 2020). Central to the challenges that teachers face is adapting pedagogy that is designed and organized for addressing student diversity (Smets & Struyven, 2018). A broad range of learning abilities and learning needs are represented in the elementary public-school population (Davis & Autin, 2020). For example, in the United States K-12 public schools reported that as of the 2018–2019 school year 14% of students received special education services, 10% of students were English language learners (ELLs), 6% met the federal requirements for gifted and talented, and 48% of students met qualifications to receive free and reduced meals (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Furthermore, 15% of students in public schools identified as Black/African American, 27% identified as Hispanic, 5% identified as Asian, and 4% identified as two or more races, which makes up 52% of the publicschool population (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Policymakers, administrators, and teachers are committed to creating, designing, and implementing curricula to address the diverse needs of students (United States Department of Education, 2018).

Decades of policies and legislation have been created to design reading achievement in the diverse elementary classrooms across the nation. For example, the No

Child Left Behind Act of 2002 led to an increase in accountability to address the achievement levels of English language learners, students in special education, and students in subgroups such as minority or low socioeconomic populations. Federal legislation created standardized testing accountability measures that threatened to pull federal funds from schools if they were not able to close the achievement gap of subgroups (Fuller et al., 2017). In 2015, the No Child Left Behind Act was replaced by the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) as the primary education law in the United States. ESSA requires school leaders to staff each classroom with a teacher who is prepared and able to meet the needs of the diverse student population (Fuller et al., 2017). Despite federal efforts to improve literacy achievement, results from national testing suggest that a significant risk of elementary students reading below proficiency levels continues to exist (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019).

#### Review of Literature Overview

I used several databases to obtain current literature on topics included in the literature review. The databases and resources came from the Walden University Library and Google Scholar and included: Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), EBSCO host, ProQuest Central, Education Source, and Sage Journals. I also read and cited eBooks acquired from Chegg. The reviews I made were linked to instructional strategies elementary ELA teachers use to develop literacy skills. The inclusion criteria entailed peer-reviewed articles published in English and published from 2017–2022. Some sources were cited before 2017 but were necessary to highlight some of the tenets

from Vygotsky's seminal work. I used the following keywords to search for the literature on the topics included in the literature search: *teacher perceptions/perspectives*, *reading achievement*, *instructional strategies*, *elementary reading instruction*, and *literacy development in elementary grades*. Through a combination of Boolean phrases, I accessed more literature and achieved saturation; I continued researching peer-reviewed literature until similar themes were evident and repetitive.

I organized the literature review into two sections: approaches to literacy instruction and instructional strategies. In the literature review, I discuss the instructional strategies that are referenced in the district strategic plan and embedded in the ELA curriculum for elementary grades in the local district. Many studies have been conducted on elementary reading instruction. The terms *instructional strategies*, *instructional practices*, and *instructional techniques* were used interchangeably in the literature I reviewed. The inconsistency of the terminology can lead to a lack of cohesion. Literacy educators are familiar with terminology related to instruction, but we cannot assume that everyone has the same understanding of what those terms involve (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). Teachers can experience additional challenges in improving their craft with a lack of shared professional terminology (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). Therefore, in this study, I used the term *instructional strategies* to refer to specific and purposeful actions by a teacher to approach literacy instruction.

#### Approaches to Literacy Instruction

The improvement of literacy achievement is a key initiative in many districts throughout the United States (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020; Shanahan, 2020). The one-size-fits-all approach to instruction has been replaced with several approaches to literacy instruction that researchers have linked to student achievement (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). To that end, teachers must be familiar with a variety of instructional strategies so they can respond to the diverse needs of the students (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). Educators have expressed challenges in adapting pedagogy that is designed to address each students' instructional needs (Smets & Struyven, 2018). I discussed balanced literacy in the next section as it relates to the top-down and bottom-up approaches to literacy instruction. I also highlighted the instructional strategies associated with each approach.

Balanced Literacy. Balanced literacy is an approach to reading instruction in which learners can construct knowledge through social interaction, which aligns with Vygotsky's SDT. The balanced approach to literacy instruction based on a philosophical belief that the ability to read and write is interdependent and learned across a multitude of environments (Fountas & Pinnell, 2020). I discovered that some researchers reported teachers experienced challenges when implementing the balanced literacy approach (see Chai et al., 2020; Mondesir & Griffin, 2020; Revelle, 2019). According to the researchers, some teachers were challenged by minimal resources, a lack of materials, inconsistent PD, and a lack of clarity on how to implement balanced literacy (Chai et al.,

2020; Mondesir & Griffin, 2020; Revelle, 2019). According to the 2022 strategic plan and ELA curriculum documents, the local district leaders support a balanced literacy approach to ELA instruction. In a study on teachers' perceptions of instructional strategies, Revelle (2019) suggested that the teachers' varied perceptions that emerged in the results supported the importance of better understanding the beliefs and orientations teachers bring to their instruction. Based on the findings, Revelle (2019) supported the idea that teachers should have differentiated PD to support their wide range of instructional needs. To fully address the research questions, it is essential to understand a teachers' approach to ELA instruction.

Van Rijk et al. (2017), Brownfield and Wilkinson (2018), and Chai et al. (2020) posited that teachers implement instructional strategies that they are the most comfortable using. Chai et al. (2020), conducted a mixed-methods study to understand how a school district utilized resources available to implement balanced literacy, and what resources teachers utilized most often during literacy instruction. The researchers collected and analyzed teacher observations in K–5 public schools, and over 125 surveys and existing district data (Chai et al., 2020). The results of the teacher surveys highlighted that teachers were not compliant regarding the district's prescribed time spent on various literacy components like read alouds, independent reading, and writing. According to Chai et al. (2020), teachers identified little direction and guidance regarding specific instructional practices, how to prioritize instructional strategies, and how to use instructional time effectively to meet state standards.

The implementation of specific instructional strategies lies within the balanced literacy approach. Teachers must determine effectiveness of the instructional strategies in ELA based on their students' learning needs. Whole language and phonics are among shared reading, guided reading, independent reading, and word study as necessary components of a balanced literacy approach (Chai et al., 2020). Some researchers, like Mondesir and Griffin (2020) argued that students who are interacting with high-quality literature through shared reading and/or guided reading as they acquire foundational reading and writing skills increase the likelihood of increased academic success. Teachers then, must have knowledge of a balanced approach to literacy instruction that includes knowledge of both top-down and bottom-up approaches to choose effective instructional strategies that will support them in responding to students' ELA learning needs (see Mondesir & Griffin, 2020).

The top-down and bottom-up approaches to literacy instruction are both implemented in elementary school ELA classrooms. The top-down approach to literacy instruction refers to literacy development that begins with an understanding of the central idea of a text, then readers focus on the lower-level processes that create the overall message such as words and phrases (Mondesir & Griffin, 2020). Conversely, the bottom-up approach refers to literacy development that begins with word-level skills and builds to higher-level thinking skills such as reading comprehension (Tracey & Morrow, 2017). Both top-down and bottom-up approaches to literacy instruction are used in a balanced literacy classroom. Various instructional strategies are implemented within the approaches that are used to deliver the ELA instruction to students. The local district

leaders require elementary ELA teachers to implement scaffolding, pre-teaching vocabulary, explicit modeling, and peer collaboration to respond to students' learning needs, and to increase academic achievement.

#### Instructional Strategies

A teachers' ability to teach can be supported and refined by PD (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). The art of teaching is fluid and changes based on the individual and their experiences. In this section, I discuss research studies related to ELA instructional strategies. There is a compelling body of literature on instructional strategies that have the potential to improve student achievement in literacy among Grades K–5 learners (Hatch & Clark, 2021; Mariage et al., 2020; Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Taylor, 2021; Tomlinson, 1999; Troyer, 2019; Webb et al., 2019). However, there is a need for additional literature on how teachers implement the strategies in their literacy classrooms, and how they know they are implementing the strategies as intended (Hatch & Clark, 2021; Mariage et al., 2020; Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Taylor, 2021; Tomlinson, 1999; Troyer, 2019; Webb et al., 2019). Flexibility and responsiveness are common themes surrounding the topic of strategy implementation in the literature.

A multiple case study examined the instructional strategies expert teachers used. Hatch and Clark (2021) studied five teachers who were considered experts. Each expert teacher expressed the need to know students both academically and personally to effectively plan instruction (Hatch & Clark, 2021). Among the five teachers, 52 instructional strategies were mentioned. Strategies that were mentioned most often

included questioning to facilitate conversation, and modeling to develop literacy skills. When asked in interviews, the expert teachers did not elaborate on the strategies they used. Instead, the teachers justified that the instructional strategies worked, were memorized, and were a part of their identity as a teacher. The results from Hatch and Clark's study are consistent with results from other studies that instructional strategies are implemented flexibly as teachers respond to their students' learning needs (see Taylor, 2021; Tomlinson, 1999; Troyer, 2019; Webb et al., 2019). Van Loon et al. (2021) explored flexibility and responsiveness further. According to van Loon et al. (2021), teachers modeled, discussed, and prompted students to practice strategies such as think aloud and peer collaboration but did not explicitly explain or evaluate why the strategies were useful. An evaluation of why the strategies is useful could have an impact on the effectiveness of instructional strategies and their implementation. I provided a summary of the literature in subsequent sections that refer to some instructional strategies that have been described by researchers as effective when implemented correctly.

Think-Aloud. The think-aloud is a strategy that is commonly implemented during teacher modeling. Schutz and Rainey, (2020) studied how effective modeling practices were developed among pre-service teachers. Modeling is a strategy where teachers represent the work involved in reading, writing, and reasoning with texts through narration or other means (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). Modeling is an instructional strategy designed for providing explicit instruction and it is used flexibly as teachers recognize the specific needs of learners as they engage in an activity (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). However, Schutz and Rainey, (2020) posited that there was a lack of clarity surrounding

what effective modeling looked like in the classroom, and how instructional coaches were supporting educators in developing their skill set. Teachers who model in the form of a think-aloud help students learn how to frame their thinking through the narration of the learning process on a specific literacy skill, utilizing verbal markers to indicate thinking is occurring (Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Taylor, 2021). Think-alouds can be implemented by teachers to assist students in developing a variety of ELA skills, including comprehension. The importance of the think-aloud as an instructional strategy is situated within the findings from the studies such as the one conducted by Mariage et al. (2020) which suggested that many students who have difficulty understanding what they read may not know or know how to use strategies that might improve their comprehension of the texts they can decode.

A constant comparative analysis indicated patterns in modeling components in the results from a study conducted by Schutz and Rainey (2020). Teachers were found to move from showing, to situating, and then to abstracting. During the showing phase, teachers made their own thinking visible using the think-aloud strategy. The researchers suggested that situating referred to teachers connecting prior lessons to the lesson being taught, then teachers used abstracting which referred to verbal markers teachers used to narrate their process of stepping out of their think-aloud to give students pointers on the work of reading. Modeling is often situated within a literacy instructional block as part of a release of responsibility from the teacher to the students to become independent with a literacy skill (Webb et al., 2019). While the think-aloud is utilized most often in modeling, the think-aloud can also be utilized in subsequent stages of the lesson as the

teacher guides students' attempts at using strategies if students are not successful in understanding or applying the strategy (Webb et al., 2019). The think-aloud can be implemented when responding to students' learning needs in ELA among other instructional strategies such as scaffolding, vocabulary instruction, and classroom discussions.

Pre-Teaching Vocabulary. Researchers argued that learning and teaching vocabulary is a complex process (Duff & Brydon, 2020; McKeown, 2019). Furthermore, some researchers have argued that it is difficult to understand the extent and depth of knowledge that students need to acquire for them to experience success in literacy (Duff & Brydon, 2020; McKeown, 2019). The studies that are discussed in this section suggested that vocabulary knowledge is central to reading comprehension (see Duff & Brydon, 2020; McKeown, 2019; Strong et al., 2018). An understanding of new vocabulary beyond the definition of a word is needed to support high-quality academic learning (McKeown, 2019). Learners need to have rapid access to word meaning when reading to make sense of the multiple contexts, which is central to comprehension (McKeown, 2019). Teachers have relied on verbal scaffolds to increase comprehension of metacognitive and cognitive strategies for learning from texts for centuries (McKeown, 2019). I explored how teachers scaffold instruction in the literature to address the problem and purpose of this study.

Some instructional strategies have been directly linked to literacy achievement among elementary students. Zucker et al. (2020) found that when scaffolding instruction

verbally, teachers asking five questions beginning with 'why' in a collaborative discussion yielded higher end-of-year vocabulary development than teachers who asked fewer 'why' questions during instruction. Additionally, researchers have asserted that open-ended questions develop student vocabulary and aid teachers in scaffolding instruction to meet students' needs more effectively (Mariage et al., 2020; Zucker et al., 2020).

Effective vocabulary instruction assists students in understanding word meanings, how words work, how to utilize word knowledge effectively in tasks such as reading comprehension. The implementation of effective vocabulary instruction should be targeted at necessary word contexts or situations that do not exist in typical verbal interactions (McKeown, 2019). The implementation of effective vocabulary instruction requires teachers to have a general understanding of typical verbal interactions within the cultures of their students.

Duff and Brydon (2020) highlighted an ongoing debate among researchers related to feasibility of vocabulary instruction. Duff and Brydon, (2020) argued that it may not be feasible to directly teach vocabulary in school at an educationally meaningful pace to have a direct effect on achievement levels. According to McKeown (2019), teachers should present words in multiple contexts, then prompt students to do something with the new vocabulary word. Interactions with vocabulary instruction should be quick, engaging, and provide feedback for students (McKeown, 2019). An ideal way to support students' understanding of difficult texts is for teachers to provide students with exposure

to key vocabulary and concepts in more simple texts (Strong et al. 2018). Teachers can build vocabulary before reading more complex texts c through an interactive read-aloud and/or a discussion in a small group setting so that students can make meaning of new vocabulary with the support of their peers (Strong et al. 2018). Pre-teaching vocabulary is widely accepted as an instructional strategy implemented by ELA teachers to assist students in becoming more proficient readers (see McKeown, 2019; Strong et al., 2018).

**Scaffolding.** Scaffolding is a term used to describe how adults guide students in completing a task that is too challenging for the child to complete independently (Smagorinsky, 2018). The concept of scaffolding was developed by Vygotsky (1978) who believed that scaffolding was a critical component of the social interactions between students and teachers, and aids in the learning process. Scaffolding is meant to be specific to the literacy needs of the student, targeted to the literacy task, adjustable, and temporary (Taylor, 2021). Interestingly, Troyer (2019) studied the adaptations four teachers made to the literacy curriculum for students in their class who were struggling to read at grade level. The results of the study suggested that each of the four teachers scaffolded the lessons differently. Findings from several other research studies suggested that it is important to explore and understand how teachers orient themselves with the curriculum, and how they understand instructional strategies like scaffolding, so that PD can be tailored to the specific needs of the teachers (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Fisher & Frey, 2018; Taylor, 2021; Troyer 2019;). Some researchers, like Taylor (2021) studied scaffolding by observing three classrooms in an urban elementary school. Specifically, by examining how teachers and students responded to one another across an interaction,

gathering data over a six-month period and 112 classroom visits. The results of Taylor's (2021) study suggested that the support that the learner may need in ELA are constantly changing, which requires teachers to continually adjust the level of scaffolded supports (see Taylor, 2021).

Scaffolding is an umbrella term that describes several strategies to support students in the learning process and can include feedback, questioning, explaining/direct modeling, highlighting, and implementing targeted activities (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Taylor, 2021). According to the researchers, it is important to slowly decrease the support as students grow toward independence. Over-scaffolding is a term that describes when teachers provide too much-scaffolded support (Taylor, 2021). Over-scaffolding is unintentional but can lead to decreased reading achievement potential. Teachers who over-scaffold lower the challenge and expectations of the student which limits the students' opportunity to develop new literacy skills and become more independent in their learning (see Taylor, 2021). Providing support for students as a proactive measure could limit learning potential for students, through over-scaffolding.

Scaffolding is a required instructional strategy that is included in the strategic plan the study site. Some researchers like Fisher and Frey (2018) suggested that teachers can increase reading achievement by increasing reading volume in class with scaffolded support. However, Taylor (2021) argued that teachers can find scaffolding to be challenging and that some teachers may want to find a tool necessary/helpful for how to scaffold literacy instruction to avoid over-scaffolding. Brownfield and Wilkinson (2018)

suggested the impact of scaffolding on literacy learning has the potential to be significant. Taylor (2021) discussed a popular assumption among researchers that a student requires more scaffolded support when they are struggling with a literacy task. Taylor (2021) went on to suggest that teachers could use scaffolding in other ways for all learners in their classroom to increase reading achievement. Respectively, choosing and implementing the appropriate scaffolded support type for each student in an ELA classroom requires that the teacher have extensive knowledge of each students' literacy levels and needs (see Taylor, 2021; Tomlinson, 1999).

Peer-to-Peer Talk. Classroom discussions among peers and/or teachers have been linked to a positive impact on student achievement (Fisher & Frey, 2018). A large-scale quantitative analysis was conducted by Goodwin et al. (2021) that explored talking strategies and how strategies in are linked to reading achievement in United States ELA classrooms. Goodwin et al. (2021) defined talk strategies as student-talk, teacher-talk, and classroom discussions. The researcher highlighted the multiple ways talk is utilized in an upper elementary reading classroom and noted that talk strategies vary widely from teacher to teacher. Goodwin et al. (2021) also posited that teacher questioning can be used to elicit the peer-to-peer talk strategy through open or close-ended questions. Van Rijk et al. (2017) conducted another study on peer-to-peer talk as a strategy. Van Rijk et al. (2017) suggested that teachers who encourage students to use conversations in the classroom can gain insight into their students' reading ability. Teachers could use that insight to make informed decisions about future instructional strategy choices as they respond to student learning needs (see van Rijk et al., 2017; Goodwin et al., 2021).

Peer-to-Peer talk can take on various forms in an ELA classroom. According to some researchers, the most effective use of talk in an ELA classroom involves openended questions (Hatch & Clark, 2021). Both Hatch and Clark (2021) and Goodwin et al. (2021) agreed that open-ended questions were not implemented as often in the classrooms observed in their respective studies. Furthermore, Goodwin et al. (2021) noted that peer-to-peer talk made up 25% of the classroom talk. The findings in Goodwin et al. (2021) study are consistent with the theoretical literature that indicate that the makeup of interactions students have with an MKO can be implemented as an instructional strategy to mediate learning through linguistic supports (Goodwin et al., 2021; Vygotsky, 1978).

Gillespie Rouse et al. (2021) conducted a national survey of elementary teachers and found that teachers' perspectives and beliefs on instructional activities in one subject to support learning were statistically significant predictors of the use of the same instructional strategies used for other subjects. Therefore, teachers rely on instructional strategies they value to implement in their ELA classrooms. Understanding teachers' experiences and challenges related to implementing instructional strategies they find effective in ELA may be a predictor of their use of the required ELA instructional strategies.

### **Implications**

The implications of this basic qualitative project study provide insight into the experiences that elementary teachers have when implementing instructional strategies in

the ELA curriculum to meet students' learning needs. The findings from this study may have an influence on helping school leaders develop more informed policies and plan tailored PD opportunities on the implementation of research-based instructional strategies in the local setting.

Margolis (2020) argued that the terms scaffolding and ZPD have been misunderstood by teachers and educational leaders because of the accountability measures associated with student achievement scores. The findings of the data collection and analysis revealed that elementary ELA teachers intend to utilize scaffolding but require additional training to clarify how to use scaffolding to support students' learning needs. Researchers have agreed that effective implementation of research-based instructional strategies in ELA can improve literacy achievement, but have been challenging and overwhelming for teachers to implement (Gillespie Rouse et al., 2021; Goodwin et al., 2021). The project for this study is a policy recommendation paper on the PD policies at the study site. Another possible project could be a 3-day PD and training on research-based instructional strategies in ELA classrooms for elementary teachers. Upon completion, I will share the findings of this study with district administrators in the local setting to increase awareness of elementary ELA teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing instructional strategies in the ELA curriculum to respond to students' learning needs.

### Summary

In Section 1, I indicated that a problem in the local setting is that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required by district leaders, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. I provided evidence within the broader context of the education profession. I also offered evidence from the local setting through meeting minutes and personal communications from stakeholders in the local district. Additionally, I included nationwide statistics on diversity of learners in elementary ELA classrooms and elementary ELA reading achievement scores from the local site on standardized tests. Section 1 also includes the definition of key terms, the significance of the study, the study's implications, and the research questions I am seeking to answer. I presented the conceptual framework in section 1, provided a review of the research literature, identified the project direction, and offered a section summary.

In section two, the methodology, I provided a detailed description and justification of the basic qualitative approach that I applied to this study. Additionally, I included an in-depth description of the criteria for gaining access to and selecting participants, and measures for protecting participants' rights. Data collection was described in detail in section two. Processes and procedures used to collect and examine the data are offered. I also included a description of how the findings of this study will be disseminated upon completion. I described the evidence of quality and the procedures that were used to assure accuracy and credibility of the findings. Finally, I concluded section two with an explanation and outline of how I addressed discrepant cases.

## Section 2: The Methodology

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' experiences, and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet students' learning needs. This section contains a discussion of the research design, participants, data collection, and data analysis procedures.

### **Research Design and Approach**

A basic qualitative design was the most appropriate design for this study. Qualitative research was the most appropriate because qualitative researchers use interpretive research methods as tools to understand individuals and groups within a specific context (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To address the RQs, the researcher must use a design that reflects how people make meaning and interpretations of their own experiences (see Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Qualitative researchers generate in-depth data using this type of methodology (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). In-depth data were necessary to address the RQs, so that I could gain insight into elementary ELA teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing district required instructional strategies in ELA to meet to students' learning needs.

As the researcher, I considered various research design approaches. Other research design approaches were rejected because of the nature of the problem and RQs. Researchers use an experimental design approach when the purpose of the study is to explore the cause of events and to predict similar events in the future (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I considered and rejected the experimental design approach because the RQs in

this project study did not suggest a need to investigate possible causes of events. A descriptive or nonexperimental design approach would be appropriate for a study on determining relationships, facts, or events of a given phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I sought to explore personal experiences of teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies, which did not align with the descriptive design approach. The quantitative design approaches that I described above did not align with my focus of an in-depth exploration of teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing ELA instructional strategies.

I considered several qualitative design approaches for this study. An ethnographic qualitative approach is appropriate when investigating the understanding of the interaction of individuals with others and within the culture of their society (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Societal and cultural impacts are influences in the phenomenon of interest but were not the primary focus of this study; Therefore, I rejected the ethnography design choice. Next, I considered the grounded theory approach. I determined that the grounded theory approach was not appropriate. According to Merriam & Tisdell (2015), grounded theory qualitative studies are most appropriate when the researcher is addressing processes and how a phenomenon changes over time. With this study, I wanted to explore the experiences and challenges of teachers implementing required instructional strategies in their ELA classroom at the time of the interview. Ultimately, I rejected the grounded theory approach.

A case study involves the use of a bounded system as the focus of a study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). A case study design is best suited for qualitative research when the variables of the phenomenon cannot be separated from their context (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Yin, 2017). Additionally, to be considered a case study, the researcher must have more than one type of data point (Ravitch & Carl, 2021; Yin, 2017).

Semistructured interviews were the only data source that I used for data collection and analysis. Additionally, a single bounded system would have been inappropriate, because a variety of participants from multiple grade levels were required to fully address the RQs; therefore, I rejected the case study approach. A basic qualitative study approach differs from a phenomenological study approach because phenomenological researchers require substantial time in data gathering from each participant (Burkholder et al., 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2021). A basic qualitative design approach was the most appropriate to answer the RQs.

I chose a basic qualitative research design based on the identified problem and RQs. Basic qualitative research methodology was the most appropriate approach to inform the phenomenon of interest from participants' opinions, perspectives, and motivations (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). My goal was to develop a deeper understanding of the problem by exploring the local problem from the participants' experiences within the study site. The researcher of a basic qualitative study addresses the problem by collecting data on a small group of participants in a focused setting to gain deep insight (Burkholder et al., 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Basic qualitative studies yield useful data with a small sample size (Burkholder et al., 2016; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Ravitch & Carl,

2021). I used a small sample size of 10 participants to gain deep and meaningful insight into teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies at the study site. According to Saldaña and Omasta (2022), the necessity of interviewing humans to understand and make meaning of their experiences describes a basic qualitative methodology. To fully answer the RQs, I allowed themes and patterns to emerge amid the participants' experiences. I allowed themes and patterns to emerge using multiple iterations of coding and sorting from the participant's responses (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). I also engaged in peer debriefing, member checking, a reflexive journal, and an audit trail to ensure trustworthiness of my data collection and results.

### **Participants**

# **Criteria for Selecting Participants**

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore teachers' experiences, and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. Participants were current general educators that teach ELA in Grades 1 through 5 in one school in the Eastern United States. Ravitch and Carl (2021) suggested selecting participants that have knowledge related to the purpose of the study. The selection criteria included: (a) participants must have been employed at the study site (b) participants must have taught ELA in Grades 1 through 5 (c) participants must have self-reported experience in implementing instructional strategies involving adult guidance and peer collaboration. Researchers use purposeful sampling to deliberately select participants that can assist in obtaining information that is necessary to answer the RQs (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2021).

Therefore, the teachers I chose had self-reported that they met the criterion. The participants indicated that they had knowledge of and practice with instructional strategies supported by the district and included in the ELA curriculum.

## **Justification of the Number of Participants**

My goal was to obtain 10 to 15 interview participants, identifying two to three teachers per Grades 1 through 5 to allow for themes to emerge. Guest et al. (2020) suggested that the researcher should use their judgment and experience to determine if data saturation has been achieved. If saturation has not been achieved, the researcher should increase the number of participants to achieve data saturation (Guest et al., 2020). According to Creswell (2012), selecting participants who are knowledgeable and experienced on the topic builds credibility for the study. Therefore, I narrowed the participant selection for this study to include ELA teachers who stated that they had experience in implementing ELA instructional strategies that involve adult guidance and peer collaboration in their classrooms. Ten participants were used to achieve data saturation. Participants included one first-grade teacher, two second-grade teachers, two third-grade teachers, three fourth-grade teachers, and two fifth-grade teachers. Creswell (2012) also suggested that an in-depth picture decreases with large sample sizes. A small sample size was the most appropriate for a basic qualitative study because I was able to present the complexity of the information that was provided by the individual participants.

## **Gaining Access to Participants**

Before data collection, I sought approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University (12-16-22- 0976798). To obtain access to potential participants, I followed the protocol of the local district's IRB which included an application and approval of my research study (RP 2568). Upon approval from both IRBs, I emailed a flyer announcing the purpose of the study to potential participants. Then, I obtained participant emails from the school's public website to send an email to potential participants at the study site that explained the research study and requested volunteers to participate. After my initial email, I received 12 responses from potential participants. Teachers who volunteered to participate received a request for their personal email address. Then, I emailed the potential participants asking them to self-report on the selection criteria. Two participants were unable to participate due to the selection criteria. The selection criteria included: (a) participants were employed at the study site (b) participants taught ELA in Grades 1 through 5 (c) participants self-reported experience in implementing instructional strategies involving adult guidance and peer collaboration. Then, an emailed Google Form of Opt-In consent, as required by the district IRB was sent to 10 participants. The teachers acknowledged that they meet the criteria by selecting to voluntarily participate in the study. Consent was obtained by each participant via email and opt-in consent Google Form using the words "I consent" as a reply and indicating that they understood the terms in the consent form. After the informed consent was obtained, all communication with the participants was through their personal email addresses to further protect their identity. Then, I set up the date and time for the

introductory meeting to verify that the participants were interested. Finally, I set up the date and time of the semistructured interview.

### **Establishing a Researcher-Participant Working Relationship**

Rapport and trust are essential components of a quality research study (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I established trust and rapport with the participants by meeting with the participants to introduce myself as a researcher, and to explain the purpose of the study. I explained the process of a semistructured interview for the comfort level of the participants. Creswell (2012) suggested that to establish trust and rapport, the researcher should be transparent about the data collection and analysis process. So, I provided a thorough explanation of the data collection and analysis process that included the time demands, potential risks, anonymity protections, and data sharing and dissemination procedures. Merriam and Tisdell (2015) suggested that researchers should offer how the participant's involvement would be valued. Therefore, I offered the participants a list of potential benefits of the study, so each participant understood how their involvement was valued. To put the participants at ease at the beginning of the interview, Saldaña and Omasta (2022) suggested that the interviewer should begin with simple descriptive questions to orient the participant to the interview before asking complex, or more sensitive questioning. So, I began with interview questions that were descriptive to put the participant at ease and establish rapport. I also committed to using clear language throughout all of my communications with the participants. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2015), using clear language during all communications with the participant including the questions will ensure the participant feels comfortable. Saldaña and Omasta (2022) suggested that the researcher should be engaged and attentive throughout all interactions with the participants. So, I was fully engaged in all correspondence with the participants and acknowledged that their opinion was valued and appreciated.

### **Protection of Participants' Rights**

I secured informed consent and an agreement of participation from each participant. The teachers acknowledged that they meet the criteria by selecting to voluntarily participate in the study, and digitally signing an opt-in consent form via Google Forms. All communication with the participants was using their preferred email addresses after the initial contact to further protect the participant's identity. I applied an alphanumeric code to each participant in place of their name. I shared the code only with the participant. I conducted the semistructured interviews via Zoom with an individual meeting code for each participant. Validity and reliability can be established through data collection methods (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). So, I used the alphanumeric codes as a way to keep the participant's responses confidential. Additionally, the documents that were collected were stored in my home and is only accessible by myself. Audio recordings and computer files were kept on a secure personal computer in a location that is password protected, and will remain password protected for five years beyond the conclusion of my study. After five years, the audio recordings and computer files will be destroyed.

#### **Data Collection**

### **Justification of Data Collection**

I formulated the RQs based on Vygotsky's (1978) SDT, particularly focusing on social interactions with an adult guide, MKO, the ZPD, and how ELA teachers scaffold cognitive growth and learning. With the first RQ, I gained information about what elementary ELA teachers' experiences were with instructional strategies rooted in adult guidance and scaffolding to increase reading growth and achievement. The second RQ highlighted teachers' challenges in the implementation of required ELA instructional strategies when responding to students' literacy needs. Vygotsky (1978) believed that learning is an active and social process and must center on the culture of the learner. Interview questions highlighted how elementary ELA teachers experience instructional strategies, and what challenges they have faced when implementing them to respond to students' literacy needs.

The method of data collection for this basic qualitative study was a semistructured Zoom interview of 10 elementary ELA teachers. The interview protocol (see Appendix B) for semistructured interviews is composed of a set of questions designed to address the research questions. I organized the interview protocol into two sections which included the key tenets of Vygotsky's 1978 SDT. For RQ1, the interview questions addressed teachers' experiences with adult guidance and peer collaboration, two key tenets of the SDT. For RQ2, I designed interview questions that addressed the challenges that teachers faced in implementing strategies of active and social learning derived from the pillars of the SDT.

The use of semistructured interviews is the most appropriate data collection method due to the qualitative nature of the purpose of this study. Qualitative researchers use interpretive research methods as tools to understand individuals and groups within a specific context (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To address the research questions, the researcher must use a design that reflects how people make meaning and interpretations of their own experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Using semistructured interviews, I had the opportunity to probe the participants if there was a need for additional details about the participant's responses and provide additional clarification so that I could understand exactly what was meant by the participant's responses. Without the ability to ask additional probing questions, the researcher may miss or misunderstand valuable information about the participant's responses. Qualitative research is interpretive (Creswell, 2012). Therefore, to reduce the potential for bias, I used a reflective log during each interview. I reported my opinions, thoughts, and feelings throughout the data analysis process. According to Creswell, (2012) and Creswell and Poth, (2016) a researcher should conduct an interview systematically and ask interview questions in a standard order to increase credibility and reliability of the research study. Therefore, I conducted each semistructured interview in a standard order to ensure credibility and reliability of the study results. I also used member checking via email twice during the data collection process. I sent the first member check after the initial transcription, to ensure the participant's responses were accurate. Then, I sent the second member check after data analysis, via email using a two-page summary of the data analysis results.

#### Instrumentation

I designed a researcher-produced interview protocol (see Appendix B) to address the RQs. Participants responded to a series of questions on their experiences with implementing instructional strategies in ELA in their classroom, and the challenges they faced in implementing required instructional strategies to respond to their students' learning needs in ELA. Effective interview questions are open-ended, yield descriptive data and/or stories about the phenomenon, and promote detailed and descriptive responses (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Ten focus questions rooted in Vygotsky's (1978) SDT pertained to each of the two RQs.

Asking RQs in the same order provides consistency during data collection (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Therefore, I asked the interview questions for this study in the same order for each participant. In addition, I only asked probing questions when I required clarification, or if I needed additional detail to fully understand the participant's response. After I asked the interview questions on the protocol, I asked if the participants had additional comments that participant's felt were important to share. To ensure that the interview protocol was clear, usable, and valid I implored expert validation from a colleague that is a content expert and holds an Ed.D. from a local university. The content expert reviewed the interview items for content validation. The expert suggested some formatting revisions and agreed the content was clear, usable, and valid. I made the formatting revisions prior to using the interview protocol with participants.

# **Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants**

Before data collection, I sought approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University (12-16-22- 0976798). To obtain access to potential participants, I followed the protocol of the local district's IRB which included an application and approval of my research study (RP 2568). Upon approval from both IRBs, I emailed a flyer announcing the purpose of the study to potential participants. Then, I obtained participant emails from the school's public website to send an email to potential participants at the study site that explained the research study and requested volunteers to participate. After my initial email, I received 12 responses from potential participants. Teachers who volunteered to participate received a request for their personal email address. Then, I emailed the potential participants asking them to self-report on the selection criteria. Two participants were unable to participate due to the selection criteria. The selection criteria included: (a) participants were employed at the study site (b) participants taught ELA in Grades 1 through 5 (c) participants self-reported experience in implementing instructional strategies involving adult guidance and peer collaboration. Then, an emailed Google Form of Opt-In consent, as required by the district IRB was sent to 10 participants. The teachers acknowledged that they meet the criteria by selecting to voluntarily participate in the study. I obtained consent for each participant via email and opt-in consent Google Form using the words "I consent" as a reply and indicating that they understood the terms in the consent form. After I received the informed consent, all communication with the participants was through their personal email addresses to

further protect their identity. Then, I scheduled the date and time for the introductory and subsequent semistructured interviews with each participant.

### **Processes for Data Collection**

I conducted semistructured interviews with each participant, which served as the data for this qualitative study. To protect confidentiality, I applied an alphanumeric code that corresponded to each participant and only shared that code with that participant. Additionally, interviews were conducted in a designated private location so that I could maintain the participant's confidentiality and so the participants felt comfortable sharing responses to the RQs openly. Transcription and recording in real-time provide more reliable data (Creswell & Poth, 2016; Lungu, 2022; Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Therefore, I asked verbal permission to record each interview for transcription purposes, and I displayed the consent and interview protocol on the screen while the participant was consenting. The participants shared "I consent" and then after their consent, I began recording. I saved the recordings in a password-protected file on my personal computer. The participant controls the duration of each interview (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Therefore, the interviews ranged from 15 minutes to 38 minutes. Throughout the interviews I used a reflective log, and shared my thoughts from that log with a peer debriefer. A reflective log can serve many purposes including documentation of key content from the interview, the establishment of possible themes, researcher reflections, and visual observations that the researcher deems important to note (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Reflective logs can be useful when establishing themes and emerging codes during data analysis (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). So, I examined the reflective log and recordings of each interview simultaneously during the data analysis process.

After each interview, I thanked each teacher for their participation, I reviewed the data dissemination process, and I offered the opportunity for the participants to schedule a brief follow-up meeting to discuss post-interview thoughts or clarify questions. None of the participants wanted to have a follow-up meeting. I sent the participants an email with emergent themes and their alphanumeric code twice. The first time I sent the code was during transcription review after initial transcription. The second time I sent the code was after data analysis for member checks of the data results summary. I will keep the records of this study in a password-protected file on a personal computer for five years, then I will destroy them.

#### Role of the Researcher

I work as a special education teacher at the study site. My role is to instruct students with disabilities. The special education team are not included as participants for this study, as they are not general educators. The RQs in this study pertained to general education ELA instruction. While I am a colleague of the participants in the study site, I have not held an administrative or evaluative role of any kind in the local setting.

## **Data Analysis**

Data analysis occurred directly following each interview. Data analysis is an intentional process and should occur at various stages, not just through one summative analysis (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Therefore, I used a systematic approach to analyze the

data after each interview. Systematic data analysis helps the researcher see if gaps in data exist or if possible, themes emerge (Ravitch & Carl, 2021).

According to Creswell and Poth (2016), qualitative researchers must continually check for accuracy when transcribing data to ensure the interpretation of the data is credible. To maintain credibility, I reviewed the transcriptions to identify initial precoding and an alphanumeric code. I transcribed the interviews from the recording to ensure accuracy in my transcription manually into a Microsoft Word document. I also used a reflective journal was used for recording data analysis and synthesis via Google Documents which is, and will remain, password protected.

After the data compilation was complete, the next phase of the data analysis process began. Code mapping can aid the researcher in organizing and enhancing the credibility and trustworthiness of the data analysis process (Lungu, 2022). So, I used the Vygotskian (1978) SDT to create a priori codes which were based on the key tenets of the SDT. Axial coding occurs after the first cycle of coding (Burkholder et al., 2016; Lungu, 2022). I conducted the second iteration of axial coding, based on the findings that emerged within the color-coded system. The second iteration of axial coding occurred one week after my initial coding was conducted to further ensure accuracy and reliability. I also had additional codes, or recategorizing codes, due to the themes that emerged from the data. I used iterations of coding to take my codes from the axial coding process to categories. Open and axial coding continued until I found patterns and relationships in the core categories that then led to the themes and subthemes that emerged from the data.

## **Evidence of Quality and Trustworthiness**

The accuracy and credibility of the findings were evident throughout the analysis process by clarifying my personal bias and utilizing partner debriefing to address any potential issues with positionality. I followed the same procedure for each interview.

Member checking, an audit trail, the use of a peer debriefer, and ongoing reflexivity ensured trustworthiness and quality of this study.

## Credibility

Credibility refers to the validity of a study as the researcher shares the discoveries (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To establish credibility, I implemented member checking (Burkholder et al., 2016). Member checking in qualitative research is used to assist the researcher in validating the accurate experiences of the participants (Ravitch & Carl, 2021; Creswell & Poth, 2016). Similarly, member checking can be used by the researcher to increase trustworthiness of the research results and help the researcher to further address their bias from the findings (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I used member checking by sending the initial findings to each participant via an email they had provided. By asking participants if the initial findings reflect their interview and if there is anything it does not capture, I was affirming that I had interpreted the participant's responses correctly. If there was information that the participants shared after their interview, I added the information to the findings and documented within the research journal. However, none of the participants shared any additional information. Then I followed up with a summary

of my findings so that the participants could examine the data after data synthesis occurred to ensure that I captured and interpreted their experiences correctly.

## **Transferability**

I used an audit trail to ensure transferability of this qualitative study. According to Merriam & Tisdell (2015), an audit trail is a detailed account of how the study is conducted and the way the data are analyzed. Therefore, to ensure transferability, I used Google Documents to create a research journal that detailed each interaction I had with the data collection processes. I used the research journal to log my understanding of the data collected, comments and thoughts, and specific details about each interview. My interactions with the research log were both during and after each interview so that the entries were honest, trustworthy, and effective in separating my biases from the perspectives of the participants. Merriam and Tisdell (2015) suggested that research logs should be running records during and after data collection. So, I organized the log by date and included reflections, questions, and a running record of problems, or ideas I had in collecting the data. I recorded my thoughts after each interview within the log, and I was sure to note anything I regarded as interesting, concerning, or that I thought had potential to be misinterpreted.

# **Dependability**

Dependability relates to the stability of the data (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To ensure I avoided errors while making meaning of the data collected, I conducted a code-recode procedure on the data throughout the data analysis process and reevaluated the data one

week after the initial data analysis process was complete to determine dependability. For additional measures, I coded and recoded the data without referring to my initial coding to eliminate potential biases.

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability refers to the acknowledgment that biases play a part in the interpretation of data (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To ensure confirmability, I established the use of a peer debriefer to address issues of subjectivity and potential biases. The peer debriefer engaged in this study was a colleague who was familiar with qualitative research and works in higher education. I asked the peer to review my analysis via email once my initial data analysis is complete. I took the recommendations of the debrief and adjusted, as necessary. After I made the adjustments to the analysis, I resent my analysis to the peer debriefer for an additional review and to address any issues they noticed that I had regarding positionality. The debriefer did not note any additional concerns with positionality.

Researcher reflexivity during data collection and analysis was ongoing. I sought to represent the teachers' experiences with instructional strategies in ELA transparently. I ensured trustworthiness by reflecting and analyzing my biases during each iteration of data collection, coding, and analysis.

### **Procedures for Discrepant Cases**

Discrepant data include data that are unexpected or oppose the study results (Creswell, 2012). Discrepant cases could have occurred if there were unexpected findings

in the data. Therefore, I closely examined the data for findings that were contradictory. Inspecting the data for contradictory findings can strengthen the study's integrity (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I inspected the data for contradictory findings, thus strengthening integrity and trustworthiness of this study. For example, if a discrepant case occurred, I would have verified the accuracy of the transcription with the recording. Then, I would have verified the accuracy of the initial findings with the participants and obtain clarification through the member checking process. According to Creswell and Poth, (2016) member checking can assist the researcher in validating the participant's experiences accurately. I engaged in two rounds of member checking. The first member check occurred within a week after each interview. I used Zoom transcription software, and then checked the transcription for errors manually to ensure accuracy of each participant's response. Once I verified that the transcription was complete and accurate, I removed the identifying information from the transcription. I sent the transcription to the participant to ask if I captured the responses accurately. After I completed the data analysis, I conducted the second round of member checks. I sent a two-page summary of the study's findings to the participants' personal email addresses. I asked the participants in the body of the email to respond with comments or questions within 72 hours of receipt. No participants had comments or questions. Member checks would have assisted me in identifying if there was discrepant data that I did not account for or acknowledge during the data analysis process. A research study is valid when the researcher has collected and interpreted the data to accurately represent the participants in the study (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). The use of a single strategy does not guarantee accuracy of the

data. Researchers must use multiple measures to support a study's validity (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I strengthened this study's validity through multiple measures that included: member checking, a peer debriefer, an audit trail, a reflective log, and mock interviews. Using the measures identified above, I was able to ensure that the data collected and analyzed in this study reflected the participants' responses accurately. Finally, there were no discrepant cases in this study.

### **Summary**

In section 2, I described the research design and methodology. I offered a detailed description of the criteria and justification for selecting participants. I also explained the procedures for gaining access to the participants. Next, I described the justification for the basic qualitative approach, and the process for data collection. Then, I explained the data analysis procedures in detail, which included my plan for ensuring quality and trustworthiness. Finally, I described the procedures for discrepant cases and provided a summary of the section.

# **Data Analysis Results**

### **Data Generation Process**

I implemented a consistent and systematic approach to collect the data for this study. Upon approval of Walden's IRB (12-16-22- 0976798) and the local setting's IRB (RP 2568), I scheduled semistructured interviews with participants. Each interview consisted of the same eight questions, asked in the same order. With the participant's consent and to ensure accuracy, I audio recorded the interviews. Additionally, I used

transcription software via the Zoom platform directly after the interview concluded. The day following each interview, I listened to the audio recording and reviewed the transcription to ensure accuracy. Within five days of conducting the interview, I removed any identifying information from the transcription and sent the transcription to the participants via their personal email for a transcript review. All 10 participants agreed that the transcription captured their responses accurately and that they did not wish to remove or add any information. After participants reviewed the transcript, the data analysis process began.

I created a password-protected cloud-based Google document to organize the coding process. I represented each participant's interview transcript on a separate tab in the Google document and labeled the tab with an alphanumeric code of T1-T10. I began the coding process using manual coding to immerse myself in the data. Each time a coding cycle occurred I read the transcript, listened to the recording, then reread the transcript to ensure the codes that I assigned accurately reflected the participants' responses. I established a priori codes from Vygotsky's SDT prior to manual coding to break the data into discrete parts. In addition, while reviewing the data, I recorded my thoughts and feelings in a reflective log.

After I completed manual coding, I uploaded all participants' transcripts into Quirkos, to begin my open coding cycles. I generated open codes by reading, listening, and recording in my reflection log. I reread the transcripts line by line, highlighted key excerpts, and assigned a code. After I completed the first open coding cycle, I exported

the codes and excerpts to an Excel spreadsheet. I used the same Excel spreadsheet for subsequent open and axial coding cycles to identify patterns and relationships among the codes. I labeled each tab with the coding cycle type and number indicating the coding cycle round. After completing open coding, I began using the Quirkos software for additional iterations of axial coding cycles. I color-coded excerpts and created a code map that connected codes with similar meanings. I grouped the codes by commonalities until they became categories. Between each coding cycle, I waited five days to revisit the same transcript. The purpose of waiting was to ensure that I recorded genuine thoughts and biases in my reflection log, and that I had fresh eyes when identifying relationships and patterns among the codes. I had the opportunity to explore first through fifth-grade ELA teachers' experiences with implementing required ELA instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs throughout the data generation process.

### **Findings from Problem and Research Questions**

The problem in this study is that in response to low standardized scores in ELA, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the study site experienced challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. Participants referenced both adult guidance and peer interactions, specifically the use of an MKO, as essential to implementing required ELA instructional strategies. Participants referred to scaffolding when they described the approach of small group instruction in their ELA classrooms. The ZPD was seldom referenced when teachers described their experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies.

I implemented a systematic process of data collection and analysis to uncover themes that answered my research questions and represented the participants' experiences. I uncovered four themes that emerged from the patterns and relationships among the data that included: (a) teachers are committed to responding to students' needs (b) clarity and support (c) teacher autonomy, and (d) challenges with learner variability. I found it necessary to expand the themes to ensure the thematic analysis was representative of the data. After reflecting on the data set as a whole, I concluded that the four themes that emerged from the analysis represented the participants' experiences and challenges when implementing required ELA strategies.

A priori codes from Vygotsky's (1978) SDT were aligned to the research questions and established prior to manual coding to break the data into discrete parts (see Table 1).

**Table 1**Research Questions and A priori Codes

Research	A Priori	Participant	Excerpt	
Question	Code	-	·	
	Adult guidance	T1	"Modeling that think aloud for them, I think, is incredibly important."	
RQ 1:				
What are the teacher experiences implementing required ELA instructional strategies in	Scaffolding	T2	"I make sure to approach the skill differently when I'm meeting with different levels of students."	
Grades 1 through 5?	Peer collaboration			
	T5	T5	"I have them read with each other almost every single day. Sometimes they take turns asking each other questions. We do a lot of think- pair -share. Turn-and- talks."	
RQ 2:	МКО	T4	"I partner them up often with a student who can read better than they can, not only in terms of sounding out the words, but in terms of understanding or applying	
What are the challenges			the skill."	
teachers report when implementing required ELA		Т8		

strategies in Grades 1 through 5? Individual learning needs

"It's hard, with the variability of you know, the ability levels of the students in your class to meet a standard or to meet the expectations of the lesson."

T3

**ZPD** 

"Their particular needs are identified with the data I collect on any given day or for unit assessments."

## Patterns, Relationships, and Themes as Findings

After I completed manual coding, I uploaded all participants' transcripts into Quirkos, to begin my open coding cycles. I generated open codes by reading, listening, and recording in my reflection log. I reread the transcripts line by line, highlighted key excerpts, and assigned a code. After I completed the first open coding cycle, I exported the codes and excerpts to an Excel spreadsheet (see Table 2). I used the same Excel spreadsheet for subsequent open and axial coding cycles to identify patterns and relationships among the codes.

Table 2Examples of Open Codes and Patterns

Research Question	Open Code	Participant	Excerpt	Pattern
RQ 1: What are the teacher experiences implementing	Model	T1	"The biggest one would be modeling my thinking. Students need to be able to hear how	Modeling/Think- aloud used
required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1	What they need	Т3	like what's happening inside of my brain."	Learner as Individual
through 5?			"I think, is the most effective strategy, and dividing them according to their needs once I find out what those are"	
RQ 1:	Other adults	T5	"It would be great	Need support-
What are the teacher experiences implementing			other adults in the room that are able to work effectively with small groups."	learning needs
required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1	Additional support	Т6	with small groups.	Variability/Diversity
through 5?			"I think that it	
			would be helpful to have additional	
			supports in the	
			classroom to aid with the diverse	

-				group of children that I have."	
	RQ 2:	It's hard	T2	"It's hard to modify an assignment in	Challenge-making responsive learning materials
	What are the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1 through 5?	Pacing/Time	T4	different ways, like I usually modify it. Usually, I'll do it in 2 ways. I should always be doing it in 3 ways."	Challenge-lack of time
	RQ 2:			"There's so much that does need to be modeled and taught and fit in, and there's really not enough time in the day, especially if	Guidance
	What are the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1	Planning	T10	you have to	Seek training/PD
through 5?	What to do	T7	Our team can't always meet within a week, because we all have so many different things to be doing so with all the expectations, we		

can't collaboratively plan."

"I definitely think we need to be provided more support or PD's on what to do and how to help support the students struggling in our classroom"

After open coding, I began using the Quirkos software for open and axial coding cycles. I color-coded excerpts and created a code map that connected codes with similar meanings. I grouped the codes by patterns and relationships until they became themes and subthemes (see Table 3). Between each coding cycle, I waited five days to revisit the same transcript. The purpose of waiting was to ensure that I recorded genuine thoughts and biases in my reflection log, and that I had fresh eyes when identifying connections among codes.

 Table 3

 Examples of Codes, Themes and Subthemes

Research Question	Code	Theme	Subtheme
RQ 1: What are the teacher experiences implementing required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1 through 5?	Scaffolding  Modeling  Individual	Teachers are committed to responding to student learning needs.	Small group instruction is used as an instructional strategy found to be effective in meeting students' learning needs in ELA.  Think-alouds and peer collaboration are implemented.
	Planning  Teacher collaboration  Additional adults	Teachers required clarity and support that they identified as necessary when implementing the required instructional strategies identified in the ELA.	Inconsistencies in understanding/implementing scaffolding as an instructional strategy.  Consistent adult support and individualized PD is needed to implement required instructional strategies.

Student Behavior Classroom management when implementing peer Teachers are collaboration. Classroom challenged by Management learner variability in Time and knowledge to their ELA effectively meet students' classroom. Peer learning needs in ELA. collaboration

# RQ 2: Engagement

What are the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1 through 5?

Guidance Teachers want Lack of teacher voice in district requirements of instructional more autonomy strategies. Standards implementing instructional Testing constraints, strategies to preparedness, and/or adequate meet their Teacher training and guidance interfered students' voices with their capacity to implement learning needs. required strategies in ELA.

### Research Question 1: Teachers' Experiences

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. RQ1 focused on teachers' experiences implementing required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1 through 5. Two themes emerged that addressed the first research question.

Theme 1: Responding to Student Learning Needs. The first theme that emerged was that teachers were committed to responding to students' learning needs. The ten participants shared similar experiences with implementing modeling, specifically the think-aloud strategy. Participants shared positive experiences that they linked with student independence on an ELA skill with the think-aloud strategy. T1 stated "students need to be able to hear how like what's happening inside of my brain as I'm reading, or as I'm responding to something." T4 shared "I definitely think that modeling is the best strategy, because children can't really do what they can't see." Other participants expanded on how they implemented modeling in their ELA classroom.

All ten participants referred to small group instruction as an instructional strategy that they found to be effective in meeting students' learning needs in ELA. Three teachers mentioned scaffolded assignments but followed the term, scaffolding, with modification and accommodation when explaining how they designed small group instruction to meet students' learning needs. Instructional strategies such as questioning, providing feedback, pre-teaching vocabulary, scaffolding, and modeling were all mentioned by the

participants as components of small group instruction. Small griup references by the participants occurred most often when the participants were describing reteaching lessons. T1 explained "some students need to come to a small group first and have a reteach before they can go to accomplish a task." Other teachers referenced strategies that they used in their small groups, like T5 that shared "questioning techniques, modeling and feedback were instructional strategies that I use, that are the most effective in small groups." The majority of the participants referred to modification of the whole group lesson through chunking larger assignments into smaller sections. Participants referred to the individual needs of their students as factors driving instructional strategy use, and the curriculum suggestions as secondary when designing instruction to meet students' learning needs.

Teachers shared that peer collaboration was a daily part of their ELA lessons. For example, the participants shared that the think-pair-share technique was a part of daily ELA lessons to foster engagement. T1 stated "I like to start most of my lessons with some type of collaboration like a think-pair-share." T2 supported the same experience by sharing "I'm really big on some type of collaboration group work at the very beginning, like a think-pair-share." Additional instructional strategies mentioned by the participants that involved peer collaboration included: buddy reading, turn-and-talks, and call-and-response. Participants described peer collaborative strategies as ways to prepare students who were not achieving high levels for more arduous tasks. T2 stated "I use the turn-and-talk so that they can sort of talk to each other first before they elaborate to the larger group."

**Theme 2: Clarity and Support.** The second theme that emerged from the data was that teachers required clarity and support that they identified as necessary when implementing the required ELA instructional strategies. Teachers shared a variety of support that they valued having or that they desired when describing their experiences in implementing instructional strategies in ELA. When referring to designing instruction/planning for the individual needs of their students, seven participants described additional adult support, tailored PDs, and scaffolded resources as necessary to implement scaffolding for student learning needs. T7 shared, "consistent adult support in the classroom is helpful, so we can build a routine within the classroom, instead of having additional adults constantly pulled or not in the classroom at all." Most frequently, the participants requested PD to clarify the expectations surrounding the delivery of instruction. For example, T5 expressed "being provided more support or PD's and how to help support the students in the classroom for students that are English Language Learners too." Eight participants shared that they struggled to implement instruction that best meets their students' needs because of time constraints. T3 expressed that:

A challenging thing in and of itself to modify an assignment in different ways, like I usually modify it. Usually, I'll do it in 2 ways, I should always be doing it in 3 ways, but the challenge is that there is the time that you're spending.

Participants also expressed varying uses of the term scaffolding when attempting to implement instructional strategies to meet their students' needs in ELA. Literacy educators are familiar with terminology related to instruction, but they cannot assume that everyone has the same understanding of what those terms involve (Schutz & Rainey,

2020). Teachers can experience additional challenges in improving their craft with a lack of shared professional terminology (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). T1 shared that they used scaffolding after assessment data was collected "I assess what their needs are and then, once those are identified, I group them accordingly. I use scaffolding." Although other participants such as T2 and T3 describe scaffolding by chunking assignments, T2 shared "When I say scaffolding, I mean, taking a similar or the same assignment, and just breaking it down into smaller pieces." T4 shared a specific intervention program that they used for scaffolding "I also have students who are below grade level, so I would do like a scaffolded activity with them at my small group as well, like SIPPS which is like the prescriptive intervention curriculum in my classroom." T7 said "I am providing those additional scaffolds, such as using the word wall, such as finding their sound spelling cards to help them with writing words." Participants shared a clear commitment to the individual needs of the learner but highlighted that they need clarity and support surrounding the implementation of required instructional strategies in ELA to meet students' learning needs.

#### Research Question 2: Teachers' Challenges

I designed the second block of questions in the interview protocol to address RQ2 which focused on the challenges teachers face when implementing required instructional strategies in ELA to meet their students' learning needs. I asked the participants how the leaders in the study site and the leaders in local district could support them in

implementing required instructional strategies in ELA. Two themes emerged from the data to answer RQ2.

Theme 3: Learner Variability. The first theme that addresses RQ2 was that teachers described feeling challenged by learner variability in their ELA classroom. The participants expressed that they recognized each learner has different abilities in ELA. Participants shared that although they are committed to addressing the individual needs of their students, they felt challenged when attempting to do so. Some researchers suggested that strategies such as scaffolding can be misused or misunderstood to mean support provided by a teacher when a student needs help, rather than releasing responsibility for a task intentionally over time (Brownfield & Wilkinson, 2018; Mondesir & Griffin, 2020; Schutz & Rainey, 2020; Van Rijk et al., 2017).

Six participants referenced the approach of gradual release of responsibility, both through the official name and in less technical terms such as "I do, we do, you do" approach to delivering ELA curriculum. To explained "I try to do the I do- we do- you do and gradual release procedure to try to get them to be a little bit more independent in ELA." Five of the participants then explained the most challenging component of this approach to instruction was the "you do." T1 explained:

I try to create a lesson and have students have a bit of productive struggle during that lesson, not necessarily providing all of the information, but allowing students to do to sort of meet me halfway, and I know that that sometimes can provide me some challenges.

T2 confirmed the challenge with releasing students to be fully responsible for independent tasks: "in a perfect world, the you do is something they can do completely do on their own. For some students there is not a whole bunch of things they can do completely on their own." Five participants expressed challenges in identifying student ability levels. T4 said "it's really hard when you have a whole group of 25, and you're trying to get responses from everyone to figure out what they know." One participant described using student data to identify learning strengths and needs, then using adult guidance to increase proficiency on an ELA skill.

Challenges that the participants linked to learner variability also included the time it took for planning and delivering appropriate instruction for students below grade level expectations. T9 confirmed this by saying:

Every classroom is different but in a typical classroom you may have a range of ability levels, and that can be challenging for the teacher to try to meet everyone where they are, while also keeping up with the pacing.

T10 referenced student ability levels beyond the struggling learners by saying that "some students above grade level need enrichment to stay engaged. It is hard to address their needs as well as the struggling readers." T6 stated that "you unfortunately tend to gravitate to the same students, because they're the most needy, every day, and then you don't necessarily get to work with the ones who you can extend."

Another challenge that teachers linked to learner variability involved implementing peer collaboration. Five teachers referenced using an MKO to address the

challenge in delivering appropriate instruction for the various ability levels in their classrooms. T6 shared, "I try to allow them to learn from one another, because I think they actually learn better from each other." Similarly, T2 said, "I ask who feels very confident with it [the skill], so that if there is a question that student can be the go-to person." T5 used this strategy as well, "I partner them [the students] up often with a student who can read better than they can, not only in terms of sounding out the words, but in terms of understanding what the words are saying to them." Participants shared that using an MKO was helpful for struggling learners when tasked to complete ELA assignments or activities/read text. However, six participants shared that peer collaboration led to classroom management challenges and was time-consuming to teach. T1 shared "for peer collaboration to be successful, you must teach what your collaboration looks like. That is a skill that we do not always have time to review." T3 added to this point by sharing, "it takes a lot of planning when you're doing your collaboration before you start because in the past I have said, okay, we're going to partner up, and that does not work well." T4 shared "to have them actually really making the conversation that is meaningful to what the instruction is has been a really big challenge." Participants shared a reluctance to have their students engage in peer collaboration in a meaningful way, which they linked to the various ability levels of their students.

Theme 4: Teacher Autonomy. The second theme that emerged that addressed RQ2 is that teachers wanted more autonomy in implementing required instructional strategies that meet their students' learning needs. According to Merriam Webster (n.d.), autonomy is defined as "the quality or state of being self-governing; self-directed

freedom." Participants shared a concern for their ability to meet both their students' learning needs and adhere to district expectations. Three participants shared that there is a lack of teacher voice embedded in instructional decision making and when implementing instructional strategies. Overall, teachers expressed that they wanted to have the capacity to have self-directed freedom but lacked the confidence to do so because of testing constraints, preparedness, and/or adequate training and guidance to implement the instructional strategies in ELA.

T2, T5, T7, T9, T10 identified frustrations in having to prioritize testing over the implementation of instructional strategies. T10 emphatically shared:

You expect me to have tests turned in by this date, and if I don't turn that test in by the date, I'm in trouble, but I'm giving them a test on something perhaps that t they haven't mastered yet, and I don't think that's always fair.

T9 confirmed this by saying "I am always questioning, should I just be teaching this lesson how it's written because it's in the curriculum." Five teachers shared concerns about their preparedness to meet their students' learning needs in ELA through instructional strategies. T2 shared that more available coaching or guidance from resource professionals can be helpful in building teacher autonomy by sharing "I do not often find it that big of a challenge to know how to modify the work. But I might not always be right, so it might be helpful to have someone like as a special educator help." T8 extended this same idea by saying:

A little bit more like modeling and support. From support staff or resource staff instead of having somebody teach a PD who hasn't been in the classroom in many years, having those people come in in the classroom and support teachers with the model so we can maximize the instructional time.

Participants stated that to build their capacity to meet their student learning needs in ELA, they need more guidance on how and when to implement instructional strategies. T9 shared "What do I do when my student cannot read in our grade. . .? There is not a lot of guidance on that, I'm left to figure that out on my own." T4 shared that "figuring out exactly the best way to, you know teach it [lesson] to students is challenging." T10 expanded the sentiment by stating that "it's my hope that we're always doing what's best for our students, and I might not always know what that is."

The findings from the data analysis suggested that the participants at the study site have experienced challenges associated with implementing required instructional strategies in ELA. Participants expressed that their professional knowledge of implementing instructional strategies could be improved and they are willing to engage in PD if it helps them grow in delivering ELA instruction.

#### **Discrepant Cases**

Researchers can make errors and assumptions when examining data for commonalities (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). Thus, when I conducted the qualitative data analysis, it was necessary to look for discrepancies within the data. I did not find any

outliers or inconsistencies in the data that could have affected the study. Therefore, I did not find any discrepant data.

# **Evidence of Quality**

#### Introduction

According to Yadav (2022) member checks and using a peer debriefer can be used in qualitative studies by the researcher to strengthen the internal validity of the findings. Therefore, member checks and using a peer debriefer were among the strategies I used in this qualitative study to strengthen the internal validity of data collection and analysis. A researcher can use member checking in qualitative research to assist them researcher in validating the accurate experiences of the participants (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). The participants reviewed the initial transcript and reviewed a summary of the data analysis for accuracy. The use of the member checks assured the researcher that the data collected and analyzed was from the perspectives of the participants without bias. A peer debriefer served as an impartial, knowledgeable person in qualitative methodology that checked for bias in the analysis and procedures of data collection. Gaining the perspective of a colleague with no personal interest in the study can reduce vague descriptions, biases, or assumptions (Carcary, 2020).

A thorough description of the approach to the research methods during data collection is paramount in qualitative research (Burkholder et al., 2019; Ravitch & Carl, 2021). I used an audit trail to serve as a detailed account of how the study was conducted and the way I analyzed the data. An audit trail contributes to the dependability of the data because the researcher must maintain a log of all research activities, develop memos,

maintain a research journal, and document all collection and analysis procedures throughout the study (Carcary, 2020). Supplementary measures integrated throughout the data collection and analysis process further enhanced the trustworthiness of the study. The supplementary measures I took ensured that I strengthened the study's dependability, beyond the previously mentioned methods. In addition to the strategies described above, I utilized an interview protocol that a content expert reviewed. The content expert helped to ensure content validity of the interview protocol. Prior to the start of the semistructured interviews, I participated in several pilot interviews with the committee chair and colleagues outside of the study site. I obtained feedback from my committee chair and colleagues during the pilot interviews to address biases and timing issues that occurred during the interviews. In doing so, I ensured a smooth delivery of the interview protocol during the data collection process. According to Bhangu et al. (2022), Researchers should read the interview protocol in a consistent manner for each participant. So, I read the interview protocol verbatim for each semistructured interview to further develop reliability of the data. In the following sections I will explain in detail how I used member checking, an audit trail, peer debriefing and additional measures to strengthen the data collection and analysis procedures and enhance the validity and trustworthiness of this study.

### Credibility

A researcher can establish credibility by enhancing their confidence in the accuracy of the study's findings (Burkholder et al., 2019). I established credibility by implementing member checking and the consistent use of an interview protocol. I

implemented an interview protocol that provided steps to follow through every aspect of the semistructured interviews. During the introduction, I read the script exactly as written which included reminding the participant of the information shared in the invitation, optin consent form, risks and benefits of participating, and maintenance of confidentiality (see Appendix B). I did not deviate from the protocol, and always read the introduction prior to the delivery of the interview questions.

In addition to the consistent use of an interview protocol, I used member checking to ensure this study was credible. Member checking is used in qualitative research to assist the researcher in validating the accurate experiences of the participants (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). For this study, I used member checking twice. The first member check occurred within a week after each interview. The first member check involved a review of the transcription. During the interview, I used Zoom transcription software. Directly following the interview, I checked the transcription for errors and manually corrected them according to the audio recording. In reviewing the transcript manually, I was ensuring the accuracy of each participant's response. Once the transcription was complete, accurate, and I removed identifying information, I sent the transcription to the participant via their personal email. I asked the participants to review the transcription and check to see if their responses were captured accurately. No participants had any comments.

I also conducted a second round of member checking in this study. Each participant received a two-page summary of the study's findings sent to their personal

email. I asked the participants to respond with comments or questions within 72 hours of receipt. No participants had comments or questions. After two rounds of member checks, I confirmed that I interpreted the participants' responses accurately and that the data were credible.

#### **Transferability**

I created an audit trail to ensure that the study was transferable. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2015), an audit trail is a detailed account of how the researcher conducted the study and analyzed the data. The audit trail must consist of several components to support transferability of the study. The researcher must maintain a log of all research activities, develop memos, maintain research journal, and document all collection and analysis procedures throughout the study (Carcary, 2020). A researcher can generalize and externally validate a study if they maintain a detailed description of all research decisions. So, I created an audit trail that detailed the account of the steps that I took to conduct the study. I recorded each interaction with the data including the collection process, and analysis. I organized the audit trail by dated tabs and used color coding for each stage of the research process that included: steps to Walden IRB approval, steps to local district IRB approval, data collection, and data analysis. Furthermore, within the data collection tab is a research log section where I recorded thoughts, questions, ideas, and reflections that I had while I was interviewing the participants. I engaged with the research log after each interview to ensure that what I thought was interesting, concerning, or had potential to be misinterpreted had been identified and was not included in the data collection or analysis.

A clear communication of the details of the study strengthens the transferability (Creswell & Poth, 2016). I offered rich details of the sample, the method for gaining access to participants, inclusion criteria for participation and I consistently implemented a sequenced interview protocol to support transferability of this study. Finally, the study has been situated within the larger population. I described the rich description of the methods for data collection and analysis to assist the reader in determining the transferability of the findings to other settings where teachers may experience challenges in implementing ELA instructional strategies to respond to their students' learning needs.

## **Dependability**

Prior to data collection a content expert analyzed the interview protocol for content validity. The content expert did not share any necessary changes to the interview protocol other than formatting suggestions. I made the formatting revisions according to the content expert's suggestions.

I implemented a systematic procedure throughout data collection and analysis to ensure that the data were stable, dependable, and without errors while making meaning of the data. To systematically collect the data, each interview consisted of the same eight questions, asked in the same order. I audio recorded the interviews with the participant's consent. I used transcription software via the Zoom platform directly after the interview concluded. The day following each interview, I listened to the audio recording and reviewed the transcription to ensure accuracy of the transcription. Within five days of conducting the interview, any identifying information was removed from the transcription

and the transcription was sent to the participants via their personal email for a transcript review. All 10 of the participants agreed the transcription captured their responses accurately and completely and did not wish to remove or add any information. After I completed the round of transcription reviews, the data analysis process began.

Data analysis was also systematic. I began coding manually to become familiar with the data. Each time a coding occurred I followed the same process. I read the transcript, and listened to the recording, then reread the transcript to ensure my codes accurately reflected the participants' responses. While reviewing the data I recorded my thoughts and feelings in a reflective log. After I completed manual coding, I uploaded all participants' transcripts into Quirkos, to begin my open coding cycles. I generated open codes by reading, listening, recording in reflection log, and re-reading the transcripts line by line, highlighting key excerpts, and assigning a code. After I completed the first open coding cycle, I exported the codes and excerpts to an Excel spreadsheet. I used the same Excel spreadsheet for subsequent open and axial coding cycles, categories, and themes. I labeled each tab of the Excel spreadsheet with the coding cycle type, and number indicating the coding cycle round. After completing open coding, I began using the Quirkos software for open and axial coding cycles. I color coded excerpts and created a code map that I used to connect codes with similar meanings. I grouped the codes by commonalities until they became categories, and then themes.

The local district IRB required opt-in consent to ensure that all participants were aware of and understood the purpose, benefits, and risks of being a participant in the

study. Opt-in consent was an additional measure to ensure the safety of the participants, that can increase the comfort of participants in sharing their experiences. I invited participants to participate virtually, with the ability to choose to keep their cameras turned off. By utilizing a virtual platform, participants were able to interview in an environment where they felt the most comfortable, thus establishing a trusting rapport with the researcher.

### **Confirmability**

To establish confirmability, the researcher must acknowledge the biases involved in interpreting data (Ravitch & Carl, 2021). To ensure that I established confirmability, I involved a peer debriefer throughout the data analysis process. The peer debriefer was a colleague who is familiar with qualitative research and works in higher education. The peer debriefer reviewed my initial analysis and my reflective log in-person, to ensure that my data analysis did not include my personal thoughts or interests. The peer debriefer made suggestions, that I applied to my data analysis. After I made the adjustments to my data table and initial analysis, the peer debriefer once again reviewed the analysis to ensure that there were no issues with positionality. Reflexivity was ongoing throughout the data collection and analysis process. Throughout the transcription and analysis process, I listened to the interview audio, read the transcript, and then listened to the interview audio for a second time to accurately capture the participants' experiences. Finally, to be transparent in analyzing the teachers' experiences in implementing instructional strategies in ELA, I waited three to five days between each coding cycle to review the same transcript.

#### **Summary of Outcomes**

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing think-alouds, pre-teaching vocabulary, scaffolding, and peer collaboration included in the ELA curriculum to meet students' learning needs. I collected and analyzed data that were presented to address the two RQs focused on the purpose of the study. The participants shared common experiences and challenges when implementing required ELA instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs.

The first theme that emerged was that teachers were committed to responding to students' learning needs in ELA. The participants described several instructional strategies that were useful and involved adult guidance. Specifically, explicit modeling and the think-aloud strategy were cited most often in the participants' responses. Several participants expressed that the think-aloud strategy was the most effective when they responded to their students' learning needs in ELA. Second to the think-aloud strategy was what teachers referred to as small group instruction. Participants referred to small group instruction as the instructional strategy that they found most effective in meeting student learning needs and were the most comfortable implementing. The participants did not reference scaffolding within small groups to meet student learning needs as often as modeling. Teachers also expressed that while they felt that peer collaboration is valuable, they implement it for engagement purposes rather than as a strategy to meet students' learning needs in ELA. Participants indicated that student behavior, classroom management, minimal time, and limited planning resources were challenges that impeded their implementation of peer collaboration as an instructional strategy. Overall, teachers

stressed the importance of what each child needs in their ELA classroom. The teachers expressed their commitment to addressing the diverse learning needs in ELA. However, many participants felt their knowledge on how to meet those learning needs through instructional strategies was lacking.

The second theme that emerged to address RQ1 was that teachers require clarity and support they identify as necessary to implement required instructional strategies identified in the ELA curriculum to meet student's learning needs. Most often, teachers shared that they required additional adult support, and time to implement the required instructional strategies in ELA. Additionally, participants expressed varying uses of the term scaffolding when attempting to implement instructional strategies to meet their students' needs in ELA. Participants in this study shared a clear commitment to the individual needs of the learner but emphasized a need for clarity and support to implement instructional strategies in ELA to meet students' learning needs effectively and consistently.

Participants expressed confidence and had positive experiences implementing instructional strategies that are directly associated with adult guidance, modeling/think-alouds, and reported feeling challenged by implementing instructional strategies that involve peer collaboration and scaffolded activities. Two themes emerged from the data to address RQ2 that addressed the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1 through 5.

The first theme that emerged to address RQ2 was that teachers feel challenged by learner variability. Each participant expressed that they recognized students have unique learning needs when developing independence on ELA skills. However, the participants expressed struggles in addressing learner variability despite their commitment to do so. The challenges that teachers reported most often referred to the extensive time commitment to planning and delivering scaffolded instruction for students below grade level expectations. Teachers also expressed that they needed more time to explore instructional strategies that are specifically designed to target instruction based on students' learning needs. Participants referenced the use of an MKO. Participants shared that they often partnered a more capable peer with a struggling learner during independent tasks. However, participants shared that while using an MKO was helpful in addressing barriers due to learner variability, peer collaboration turned into social conversations and often off-task student behavior. Finally, teachers expressed frustrations in knowing what to do to address each student's learning needs and when to implement those strategies with the other components to ELA instruction they are required to address in ELA each day, namely, testing accountability measures.

The last theme that emerged to address RQ2 was that teachers wanted more autonomy in implementing required instructional strategies that meet their student's learning needs in ELA. Most participants shared concerns about their preparedness to meet their students' learning needs in ELA through instructional strategies by requesting PD and/or coaching aimed at addressing learner variability. Participants express the need for additional PD. Similarly, the participants also stated that to build their capacity to

meet their student learning needs in ELA, more guidance on how to implement instructional strategies and when to employ them is necessary. Additionally, some participants expressed feeling frustration when they navigated the curriculum for useful resources that explain or inform teachers about how to use instructional strategies to address learner variability. While the participants felt they knew their student's strengths and weaknesses in ELA, their capacity to address those needs while simultaneously meeting the instructional and pacing expectations was a challenge. Teachers also expressed that they wanted more of their voice embedded in deciding what instructional strategies work in the ELA curriculum.

The problem addressed in this study is that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required by the district, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet students' learning needs in ELA. I used Vygotsky's (1978) SDT as a framework to explain the findings. The participant's responses reflected the constructs of ZPD, scaffolding, adult guidance, and peer collaboration. However, participants expressed that they required more PD to meet all their students' unique learning needs. Margolis (2020) argued that scaffolding and ZPD have been misunderstood by teachers and educational leaders because of the accountability measures associated with student achievement scores. As such, a policy recommendation paper was developed to support elementary ELA teachers in Grades 1 through 5 on the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and utilizing the think-aloud strategy/modeling to meet their students' learning needs.

# **Project Deliverable**

I analyzed the findings to determine ways of addressing the problem, that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet ELA student learning needs. Teachers shared that their knowledge of implementing required instructional strategies was lacking and expressed a collective commitment to addressing student learning needs in ELA. The project deliverable is a policy recommendation paper. With this position paper I aim to share information with all stakeholders so that elementary ELA teachers are more equipped with the support, clarity, and guidance to effectively and consistently implement the required instructional strategies outlined in the ELA curriculum to meet their students' learning needs.

#### Section 3: The Project

#### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. My intent was to create a project based on this research that will support elementary ELA teachers in Grades 1 through 5 on the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and utilizing the thinkaloud strategy/modeling to meet their students' learning needs. Findings for this study suggested that the professional knowledge of teachers in the local setting implementing the research-based reading strategies that include adult guidance, and peer collaboration in ELA needs to be supported and enhanced. Participants in this study shared that they prioritized the individual literacy needs of their students but require clarity and support to implement the required instructional strategies. The research findings from this study also showed that learner variability causes barriers for teachers when attempting to implementation some instructional strategies, and that teachers want more autonomy in implementing required instructional strategies that meet their student's learning needs in ELA.

Overall, participants shared that they felt they needed additional support to implement strategies involving both adult guidance and peer collaboration. Participants requested coaching support in their classrooms from resource staff, sought suggestions for time management, and requested development of their knowledge and understanding of how to effectively scaffold ELA instruction. Additionally, participants indicated that

they wanted to have more voice in curricular decision making which they expressed they needed to increase instructional autonomy in ELA.

Through semistructured Zoom interviews, the 10 participants in the study expressed their experiences and challenges when implementing or attempting to implement required instructional strategies identified in the ELA curriculum. The participants identified various uses of scaffolding and found that peer collaboration was difficult to implement due to behavioral/classroom management concerns. Similarly, the participants shared a commitment to the individualized needs of each learner. Teachers shared that they used an MKO to remediate learning mostly for a struggling reader to accomplish a task above their ability level. To address the findings of this study, I created a policy paper that school and district stakeholders can use to foster effective PD practices, and subsequently reduce the challenges teachers face when implementing required instructional strategies in ELA.

Instructional leaders and district officials need to make a concerted effort to consider the experiences and challenges of the teachers faced with implementing the required ELA instructional strategies. Stakeholders responsible may include the superintendent, staff in the curriculum, instruction and assessment office, staff in the office of PD, community superintendents, staff in the office of research and accountability, and the administrators in elementary schools. The purpose of the project is to share information with all stakeholders so that elementary ELA teachers are more equipped with the support, clarity, and skill to effectively and consistently implement the

required instructional strategies outlined in the ELA curriculum to meet their students' learning needs. The goals of this policy paper are:

- To develop the implementation of required instructional strategies in
   ELA to address challenges teachers face related to learner variability.
- Channel teachers' commitment to meeting students' learning in ELA through increasing teachers' understanding and engagement with educational research.
- Provide clarity on the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA, and implement effective support linked to ELA instruction through meaningful PD.
- Enhance teacher autonomy by providing a platform for teachers' involvement in the development and revisions of relevant and realistic policies.

#### Rationale

The problem that I addressed with this study was that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies are required but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet students' learning needs. To resolve the local problem, I created a policy paper because the school district has not provided effective PD experiences for teachers to address the challenges they identified when implementing required

instructional strategies in ELA. The current policy surrounding school-based PD is written in vague and general terms, with the principal held accountable for identifying the needs of the faculty. I developed the policy recommendations in this paper after I explored teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies in ELA to meet students' learning needs in ELA with this research study. Current PD policies are not written explicitly or implemented consistently to improve the implementation of ELA instructional strategies at the study site. Single PD sessions mandated by the district curriculum leaders are often mandatory group sessions that are dictated by the principal and focus on an area of need as district policy states. Additional offerings for PD can loosely relate to the topics identified by teachers but are often onesize-fits-all, and then participants are left to make sense of the session and how it could potentially apply to their classroom. Teacher voice, relevance to current challenges, realistic application to the ELA classroom are not presently the determining factors in PDs. The district leaders do not provide teachers many opportunities to engage in ongoing, scaffolded, responsive, and relevant PD that address their specific needs in ELA.

Teachers in the local setting expressed a desire for ongoing coaching opportunities, clarification, and support in meeting their students' literacy needs through scaffolding and implementing peer collaboration effectively. Participants indicated that they seek ongoing support under the supervision of an expert. At present, there is no defined PD policy that addresses elementary ELA teachers with ongoing, systematic, differentiated, and individualized PD that identifies current research associated with

evidence-based instructional strategies that are identified in the ELA curriculum. Participants indicated that they are committed to meeting the needs of the individual in their ELA classroom but are not equipped with the clarity and support to do so in many cases. Participants shared challenges and misconceptions with effective use of small group instruction, scaffolding, utilizing a more knowledgeable other, and do not include the ZPD as essential in meeting student learning needs. The local setting and district leaders need to commit to creating a policy that includes providing the identified PD to support elementary ELA teachers in meeting their students' learning needs in ELA.

Participants requested that resource staff and school leaders allow for more teacher voice in ELA curricular expectations. In addition to teacher voice being heard in the short term, I will highlight vital information for school and district leaders that is needed to gain a better understanding of the teachers' experiences and challenges associated with ELA instructional strategies, with the policy paper. In the long term, the policy paper will have an influence on how PD needs in ELA are identified and addressed. A teacher's content and pedagogical knowledge improved over time with years of PD opportunities (Tortorelli et al., 2021). Furthermore, Hudson et al. (2021) advocated for PDs that provide teachers with the opportunity to enhance their skills under the supervision of an expert. Teachers need a safe environment to read and understand current research surrounding instructional strategies in ELA, and the opportunity for an instructional coach or MKO to guide them through the implementation of newly acquired skills and knowledge to increase their capacity as ELA teachers.

By creating a policy paper, I provided means to ensure that teachers' experiences and challenges are heard and addressed both in the short term and long term. All stakeholders need to better understand teachers' experiences and challenges when implementing required instructional strategies in ELA. Stakeholders must also better understand how teachers' experiences are necessary to develop and revise district policies, influence PD, and improve teaching and learning in ELA at the local study site. With the policy paper I created for this project study, I aim to provide the foundation to aid school and district leaders on how policies are developed, and how PD is designed. Additionally, I have provided a platform to share teachers' voices as requested by the participants of the study. With the policy change recommendations, the school and district leaders allow a safe space for teachers to learn and grow from each other, while developing their understanding of evidence-based practices, and learning from educational research.

With the policy recommendation paper, I also highlight a necessary shift in mindset for local and district policy makers, that the policy implementors (teachers) must be at the forefront of policy development and revision. Alexaki et al. (2022) asserted that educational policy changes must include diverse characteristics and recommendations with the teachers considered as the key players in knowledge and implementation.

Teachers must be involved in and empowered to engage with the required policies that they to adhere to, particularly involving daily instructional practices.

### **Project Review of Literature**

In this literature review, I examine how current research informs practice for this policy recommendation paper. I considered the data analysis in Section two in addition to the literature to guide the development of the policy paper. Throughout this literature review, I used peer-reviewed journal articles published within the last five years from the search engines: Google Scholar, Education Source, ERIC, and ProQuest from the Walden University Library. Search terms included *policy paper*, *policy paper in educational research*, *position papers*, *policy recommendations*, *PD*, *elementary teachers*, *scaffolding*, and *Zone of Proximal Development*. The literature review includes the examination of key concepts related to the project that include policy recommendation, teachers' engagement with educational research, and PD.

# **Policy Recommendation**

I developed a policy paper to recommend options for improving the implementation of required instructional strategies in the ELA curriculum to meet students' learning needs in ELA. The policy recommendation paper is a tool to present data findings and current literature on a problem (Gaber & Gaber, 2017). I designed the policy recommendation paper to persuade stakeholders to use the recommendations suggested by the author. Position papers typically consist of an introduction detailing the history of the problem, participants, their environment, the problem, its effect on the participants, evidence of the problem in a local setting, a review of literature, recommendations to address the problem, and implications of the author's recommendations (Ansre, 2017). With the six components, the author establishes

credibility, analyzes strengths and weaknesses of the position, and persuades the audience to adhere to the recommendations in an informative way (Chimbi & Jita, 2020).

Individuals create policy papers to solve problems and elicit change (See et al., 2020;

Muyunda, 2021; Ozbay & Karaoglu, 2022).

The effectiveness of policy recommendations is based on the improvements to the existing problem that I collected data on. Education has been inundated with educational policy recommendations, most recently shifts encouraging schools to commit to the use of evidence-based practices which can positively impact reading achievement (Neitzel et al., 2022). In the spring of 2021, The COVID-19 global pandemic required educational leaders to implement policies in an unpredictable situation (Ozbay & Karaoglu, 2022). Researchers conducted a study of 118 preschool teachers to investigate which policy documents teachers used, what extent those policies were implemented, and how the learning process was reorganized because of those policies (Ozbay & Karaoglu, 2022). The researchers aimed to fill a gap between policy makers and implementers (Ozbay & Karaoglu, 2022). The researchers found that the teachers created a new normal in their classrooms, but that each teacher valued the components of the policies differently like hand sanitation, physical distance, and hygiene. Chimbi and Jita (2020) explored the extent history teachers in Zimbabwe were transforming their classrooms in alignment with a new pedagogical reform policy on student-centered learning. The researchers conducted observations of 47 lessons, and three semistructured interviews. The findings of the study suggested that teachers recognized and acknowledged the new policy expectations but were not changing their classroom practices due to a lack of

empowerment and training on innovative teaching practices (Chimbi & Jita, 2020). In both situations, regardless of the topic of the policy recommendations, researchers found that to elicit change from policy, there must be adequate preparation and training (Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Ozbay & Karaoglu, 2022).

Other recent studies have elaborated on the notion that policy reformers have "placed the cart (reform policy), in front of the horse (the teacher), before harnessing and training the horse to pull the cart" (Chimbi & Jita, 2020, p. 14). Researchers have agreed that effective policies not only address the problem, but also adapts to changing conditions over time (Alexaki et al., 2022; Bali et al., 2019; Sari, 2020). Specifically, Alexaki et al. (2022) asserted that educational policy changes must include diverse characteristics and recommendations with the teachers considered as the key players in knowledge and implementation. Regardless of the policy recommendation topic, researchers have argued that teachers as the policy implementers should be perceived as knowledgeable beings that can make significant contributions to both the implementation and formulation of policies in education (Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020).

A policy paper can be used by stakeholders to address a specific policy, and/or offer clear recommendations so that policy makers can make informed decisions about needed change (Gaber & Gaber, 2017). In this case, the findings from this study support the findings discussed by the body of research on the implementation of educational policy. The participants at the local setting agreed that the required instructional strategies are powerful but expressed a lack of autonomy in implementing all the strategies in their

ELA classrooms due to challenges that they have faced in attempting to do so.

Participants requested additional teacher voice in instructional strategies required in their ELA classroom. Some participants requested specific PD on the current ELA instructional strategies, while other participants suggested that they simply were not supported or clear on the expectations in their ELA classroom. The findings I discovered from this study support the argument of previous researchers on policy development.

Researchers have asserted that positive changes linked to student achievement do not exist within the policy, but rather begin in the policy and are developed through the training and contributions of the educators implementing them (Alexaki et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020).

### Teachers' Engagement with Educational Research

The lack of improvement in literacy outcomes, globally, over many years has led to pressure to incorporate scientific research into instructional practices, and teacher education (Seidenberg et al., 2020). According to Slavin (2020), Educational leaders have focused most recently on building teacher capacity to promote learning that is scientifically linked to results. Seidenberg et al. (2020) asserted that familiarity with core research findings, the ability to critically assess the quality and validity of a research study, and the relationship among findings of research studies is not strongly emphasized in professional training. In a study conducted by Slavin (2020), the findings suggested that teachers rely on advice from friends and colleagues, guidance from people they trust, or online tools like Pinterest TM and rarely consult educational research.

Participants in this study expressed challenges in implementing scaffolding effectively and did not acknowledge the use of a child's ZPD when implementing instructional strategies in ELA. Some of the challenges that the participants expressed included a lack of time, lack of resources, and a lack of training when they attempted to address learner variability. However, teachers requested training and development on these topics and were relentlessly committed to making each child in their ELA classrooms achieve. Booher et al. (2020) conducted a study to explore how teachers engaged with educational research. The results suggested that 48% of the participants were neutral toward the idea that research could improve student learning, and 47% were neutral toward seeking empirical research for solutions or justification of their instructional choices. In contrast, a limited number of participants indicated that they use research in planning (Booher et al., 2020). Similarly, a mixed-methods study conducted by Brown and Flood (2020) to understand how teachers understood, related to, assessed, and made use of educational research. Pre and Post-intervention surveys and semistructured interviews were collected from 15 participants. The results of the study were like the discussion from Booher et al. (2020). The researchers of both studies argued that teachers value research but have limited training which results in substantially different perceptions of their ability to recognize and interpret research to inform their practice.

#### PD

PD has many purposes in the field of education. School leaders use PD to improve teacher retention, train teachers on new policies or pedagogy, improve student

learning, support new teachers, and facilitate classroom routines and procedures among many others (Navy et al., 2019). However, not all PD is valuable. Conferences, teacher choice, and relevance to current issues as well as accessibility to all participants are characteristics that contribute to effective PD (Mckeown et al., 2019; Navy et al., 2019). Similarly, researchers have suggested that PD for teachers should not be a one-size-fits-all format but instead should match each teacher's learning needs (Van Geel et al., 2019). Many researchers have studied effective PD, and if it is linked to increasing student achievement.

The tenets of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT apply to the adult learner, specifically teacher PD (Polly & Byker, 2020). A teachers' interaction with their peers when offering support or guidance deepens their understanding of best practices (Polly & Byker, 2020). Learning within the ZPD occurs in stages. In the beginning stages, engagement in a task with support like modeling, coaching, scaffolding, and/or technology lead to learners becoming more self-supported (Polly & Byker, 2020; Vygotsky, 1978). However, according to Vygotsky (1978), learning is not fully developed until learner's performance is developed and automatized. Then learners' cycle back through their ZPD and adjust their actions based on context (Polly & Byker, 2020; Vygotsky, 1978). As the learner develops, assistance is no longer needed and may be disruptive (Vygotsky, 1978). Thus, researchers support the idea that PD may influence teachers to temporarily change their personal belief systems to fully develop new skills and strategies (Martin et al., 2019).

In a study conducted by Malatesha Joshi and Wijekumar (2019), the researchers suggested that teachers felt like they did not have the autonomy to change their teaching

practices after some PD experiences. In this study, the participants requested PD opportunities as ways to meet their students individual learning needs in ELA. The participants shared that they were not as comfortable with other instructional strategies beyond explicit modeling and wanted more guidance on the best ways to scaffold learning activities. The participants frequently mentioned a lack of resources for the various learning needs in their classrooms and seek the expertise of learning specialists such as special educators and reading specialists to address learner variability.

# **Project Description**

The project for this study is a policy recommendation paper that I aim to use to inform school and district leaders about the experiences and challenges elementary ELA teachers have when implementing required instructional strategies in ELA to meet students' learning needs. The purpose of the policy paper written for this study is to create awareness and provide district policy suggestions that will influence teaching and learning in the local setting. I focused the goals of the project on influencing change in policy surrounding PD at the local and district setting and increase elementary ELA teachers' ability to meet their students' learning needs in ELA.

#### **Policy Recommendations**

Current policy surrounding school-based PD is written in vague and general terms, with the principal held accountable for identifying the needs of the faculty. I developed the policy recommendations from this research study where I explored teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies in

ELA to meet student learning needs. The policy recommendations include revising the description of school-based policy to include the following:

- School-based PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies.
- PD experiences are ongoing and scaffolded to provide clarity and support for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by a more knowledgeable colleague.
- PD at the school level designed to address teachers' feedback and offer choice.
- The implementation of a continuous process where teachers are directly involved in the revision and development of relevant and realistic school policies involving PD.

### Goals of the Policy Recommendations

The policy recommendations are directly from elementary teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies. The goals of the policy recommendations are linked to the themes that emerged from the findings of this research study. The goals of this policy paper are to:

- Develop an implementation plan that addresses utilizing required instructional strategies responding to individual learner needs in ELA and the challenges teachers face related to learner variability.
- Channel teachers' commitment to meeting students' learning in ELA by increasing teachers' understanding and engagement with educational research.
- Provide clarity on the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA, and implement effective support linked to ELA instruction through meaningful PD.
- Improve teacher autonomy by providing a platform for teachers' involvement in the development and revision of policies.

The policy paper provides school and district leaders with valuable data that can be disseminated throughout the district from the local setting's principal to the superintendent of the district. The policy recommendation addresses the problem in the local setting that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. The policy paper includes a description of the identified required instructional strategies in the Teaching and learning framework, and the current PD initiatives identified in the district's comprehensive literacy plan, and the recommendations for future PD initiatives proposed because of this study's findings and current empirical literature. I developed the

paper, the purpose of the project study, the sample size, the data collection and analysis procedures, the findings, and recommendations for future practice to improve the implementation of required ELA instructional strategies to meet students learning needs in elementary classrooms.

## Resources, Existing Supports, Potential Barriers, and Potential Solutions Roles and Responsibilities

I am responsible for developing and delivering the policy paper to the principal at the local setting, and the local districts' office of PD, research and accountability office, and executive director of schools in the central area. I developed this position paper in response to a gap in practice between the instructional strategies that are required of teachers to meet their students' literacy needs according to the Teaching and Learning Framework and the ELA curriculum, and the challenges teachers' face when attempting to implement those strategies to meet their students' needs. The policy paper will include an overview of current policies surrounding implantation of instructional strategies and PD in the local setting. The intention is to work with local and district leaders in developing teachers' knowledge and understanding of educational research surrounding instructional strategies in ELA.

## Proposal for Implementation

In this section I provide suggestions for how to implement the policy recommendations at the local site. One suggestion is to create a monthly newsletter sent to ELA teachers in the local setting via email providing peer-reviewed research on best

practices for implementing scaffolding, the ZPD, and peer collaboration strategies. In addition, a monthly research study group offered to teachers as a safe space to learn about informing practice with educational research. As the group develops, a peer support structure could evolve. The monthly group would include book studies, academic journals, and how to read and assess educational research. Teachers would then get the opportunity to pick topics they want to know more about.

To implement this project several resources are needed. To begin, the resources needed include the comprehensive literacy plan from the district, the school progress plan from the local setting, the teaching and learning framework, access to space for meeting, email addresses, computer software for monthly newsletters, and support from administrators. The timeline of implementation is dependent upon the interest and support from local and district leaders. According to the district's current policy on policy revision, a policy review proposal that is presented to the board of education via a reading that occurs at one of the monthly public meetings. Therefore, after approval from Walden University, I immediately sent the policy recommendations to the IRB at the local setting for their review. After the review from the local IRB, the principal at the local setting was informed of the policy recommendations. Within that month, school-based staff and administration would work to determine how to implement the policy recommendations through a discussion. After six months of implementation, I would collect the evaluations and create a presentation to introduce the policy recommendations to the district leaders including the superintendent, executive director, director of PD, and the director of the

research and accountability office. I will also send school board members an invitation to the presentation because they can recommend policy change.

#### Potential Barriers and Potential Solutions

Various barriers to implementation of this project could arise. The first barrier that could arise is the possibility of a lack of support from administrators at the local site. Should a lack of support occur, a potential solution would be to request a meeting with the administration to discuss the reasons for the lack of support. If logistics regarding coordination, organization, or finances are a concern, we can work as a team to come to an arrangement that is comfortable for administrators. Another barrier could be a lack of teacher participation. I will invite all teachers to participate. However, if there is no participation, I will invite district leaders and other school administrators to discuss the study groups with their staff for interest in participation. To elicit the widest possible support for policy recommendations, I will invite district stakeholders to receive copies of the policy recommendation paper. If the district wants to adopt the policy changes, monetary commitments could become a barrier. To mitigate this, I could collaborate with individual school programs or grant initiatives or raise money from outside stakeholders pending approval to do so.

## **Project Evaluation Plan**

The evaluation of this project will include both formative and summative evaluations based on the goals of the policy recommendation. I will share the summative evaluation at the conclusion of the policy recommendation proposal to the principal and

assistant principal, then with district leaders. The primary stakeholder groups could provide meaningful evaluation of the project. First, district leaders such as the superintendent, executive director, board members, directors of research, and PD have control over policy change or development. Retaining feedback from all stakeholders at the district level offers valuable insight into the recommendation quality and feasibility. According to Creswell (2012), evaluations are viewed as an assessment when they center on the results at the end of a program. I evaluate the policy recommendation goals using multiple methods associated with gaining feedback from all of the stakeholders at the district level.

#### **Goal One Evaluation**

The first goal of the policy recommendation is to develop an implementation plan for using the required instructional strategies that address individual learner needs and challenges in ELA that teachers face related to learner variability. I address the first goal using a formative and ongoing, goal-based evaluation. To assess this goal, I propose a discussion session held quarterly with teachers at the school level. The discussion sessions allow stakeholders to understand how teachers are growing in their knowledge of educational research, and instructional strategies in ELA (see Appendix D). The policy implementors can adjust the implementation plan based on the data for the following quarter to fully respond to the teachers' learning needs and maximize consistency in the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA. Policy implementors can use the information from the discussion sessions to further understand the confidence levels of teachers when they are implementing required strategies in ELA. The key stakeholders

for this evaluation include the researcher, ELA teachers at the study site, administrators (principal and assistant principal), and the reading specialist. Discussions allow the evaluator to understand if previous challenges have been mitigated and/or if new challenges arise. The researcher will facilitate the discussion groups, teachers are the participants engaging in the discussion, the reading specialist at the study site will take meeting minutes with the researcher, and administrators will engage with the minutes and results of the evaluation. All stakeholders will be involved in adjusting policy implementation based on the information gained from the discussions.

#### **Goal Two Evaluation**

The second goal of the policy recommendation is to channel teachers' commitment to meeting students' learning needs in ELA by improving teachers' understanding of and engagement with educational research. The evaluator will use a formative goal-based evaluation to track the progress of this goal. Teachers will be provided a Likert-Scale evaluation via email after they engage with PD focused on educational research. Feedback solicited from the Likert-Scale items will highlight the usefulness of the information, the likelihood of classroom application, and level of clarity and support needed to implement or utilize instructional improvements. Additionally, I include a description box where the participants can share what they want to learn about in the upcoming PD sessions. The feedback allows the researcher to understand how the policy recommendation applies to improving teaching and learning at the study site. Data from this study suggested that teachers have an unwavering commitment to responding and meeting their students' learning needs but teachers expressed a lack comprehensive

training. The teachers' feedback allow policy evaluators to understand how teachers are engaging in educational research. The key stakeholders include the researcher who will provide the Likert-items and compile the data, the teachers in the PD sessions as participants, and administrators at the local site as partners in modifying PD experiences based on teachers' feedback.

#### **Goal Three Evaluation**

The third goal of this policy recommendation is to provide clarity on the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA, and implement effective support linked to ELA instruction through meaningful PD. The third goal-based evaluation is formative. Teachers will be asked to discuss instructional strategies that they have directed attention to like: scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit modeling, vocabulary instruction, during grade level PLCs. The conversations will include asking teachers about the instructional strategies they would like more support on, and how the teachers feel best supported in implementing ELA instructional strategies. The PLC discussions will include key stakeholders: a member of the leadership team, teachers, administrators, the PD liaison, and researcher at the study site. Each stakeholder involved in the discussions will play a critical role in the discussions. The leadership team member will take notes on how teachers' felt about clarity and support after the PLC sessions. Additionally, the evaluators will note any suggestions the teachers have moving forward. The ELA teachers are the participants for this evaluation. Administrators are accountability partners in developing meaningful PD. The PD liaison and researcher at the study site will be the stakeholders involved in designing PD experiences and holding

the discussions. All stakeholders will be provided with the minutes for their review and comparison of previous month's discussions. In addition, all stakeholders will determine the course of action for subsequent PD opportunities.

#### **Goal Four Evaluation**

The last goal of this policy recommendation is to improve teacher autonomy by providing a platform for teachers' involvement in the development and revision of relevant and realistic policies. The final evaluation is goal-based and summative. This evaluation serves as justification to district leaders on the effectiveness of the policy recommendations. To evaluate this goal, the evaluator will record the teachers' involvement in policy development and revision by listing the participants attending the meeting. Also, at faculty meetings, the evaluators will provide teachers with a questionnaire indicating their autonomy in implementing instructional strategies in ELA to respond to students' learning needs (see Appendix C). Key stakeholders include the researcher as the creator and implementer of the evaluation, and teachers as participants. Members of the leadership team will serve as participants in amending the policy revision process. The principal and executive director will analyze student data and observation data to look for improvements in ELA instructional strategies and implementation.

#### **Project Implications**

#### **Social Change Implications**

To create social change, the social change agent must engage in a deliberate process of creating and applying ideas to promote the improvement of human and social

conditions. As a result of this project study, the potential for social change exists by providing local and district stakeholders with informed policy recommendations for improving the implementation of required instructional strategies in ELA to support students' learning needs.

## Importance of Project to Local Stakeholders

Researchers have suggested that teachers must see themselves as agents of change and that their teaching could have a profound effect on their students' wellbeing (Martin et al., 2019). Policy developers should perceive teachers as knowledgeable and impactful to the formulation of educational policies (Martin et al., 2019). Locally, this project study provides a platform to share teachers' voices as requested by the participants of the study. Additionally, the researcher may allow a safe space for teachers to learn and grow from each other, while developing their understanding of evidence-based practices, and learning from educational research through the acceptance of the policy recommendations. Presently, the required instructional strategies in ELA are not being implemented consistently by Grades 1 through 5 teachers due to the challenges teachers' face when attempting to implement them. Data analysis from this study suggested that some challenges teachers experienced with the implementation of required instructional strategies in ELA could improve with changes that stem from the policy level. Teachers at the local site could experience greater success in implementing strategies that influence student success in ELA by engaging with this project. School-based teacher leaders could arise as agents of change within the study site and local district by empowering other ELA teachers to build their capacity in strategy instruction. Teachers could become better

prepared in responding to students' learning needs in ELA if the policy recommendations are accepted.

#### **Large Scale Social Change**

Seidenberg et al. (2020) asserted that given persistently low literacy levels in the United States and other countries, previous efforts to connect this research and educational practice have failed. To that end, Seidenberg et al. (2020) argued that education is an enterprise with numerous stakeholders like: the government, voters, teachers, families, and students, whose interests often conflict making change difficult to accomplish. While Seidenberg et al. (2020) labeled change as difficult, this researcher did not labeled change as impossible. Policy recommendations that include follow-through with PD build teacher autonomy. Sprott (2019) argued that effective PD scaffolds new learning for teachers and when this occurs teachers leave the experience feeling as they have gained usable knowledge for their classrooms. Thus, this policy recommendation could have implications for change in other school districts that extend beyond the study site and local district. One way to disseminate the information from this study could be to share this project with state board members or present the findings at a school improvement conference. The policy paper could provide a foundation for ELA educators across the state to enhance ELA instruction and ultimately influence student achievement.

#### Conclusion

In section 3, I included an introduction and description of the project for this research study. I provided a rationale for the specific genre of the project chosen, and a

review of the literature related to the genre and content of the project. I provided a detailed description of the resources, potential barriers, and potential solutions of the policy recommendation paper. I presented the project evaluation plan with a justification of the formative and summative evaluation for the goals-based project deliverable. I also discussed the implications for positive social change. In the final section, I identify the project's strengths and limitations. I also identify recommendations for alternative approaches, scholarship, project development, leadership, and change. Finally, I reflect on the importance of the work, and discuss implications for future research as a scholar-practitioner.

#### Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

With this project, I provided information in the form of a policy recommendation paper to address the problem in the local setting. The problem is that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet students' learning needs. The findings of this research study suggested that the participants, who were ELA teachers in the local setting, felt challenged by the various learning needs of their students, and a lack of clarity and support surrounding the implementation of scaffolding, explicit vocabulary instruction, and peer-collaboration. Teachers in the study were committed to responding to students' individual learning needs in ELA but wanted to develop more autonomy in implementing ELA instructional strategies. I designed the project to modify current policies in the district. I suggest policy modifications to include policies that explicitly prioritize effective PD.

#### **Project Strengths and Limitations**

I designed a policy recommendation that allows stakeholders to gain insight into understanding the experiences and challenges that Grades 1 through 5 ELA teachers face when they are attempting to follow current requirements in the teaching and learning framework. In this project, I highlight the strengths of the policy recommendations as well as the strengths of current practices in the local setting. I also reflect on the limitations of this study. The evidence that I offer in the policy paper indicates that support the need for additional PD measures to implement current requirements.

Researchers should conduct studies to further understand how teachers make sense of and

use ELA instructional strategies in their classrooms to respond to students' learning needs.

#### **Project Strengths**

The greatest strength of this policy paper is that it includes information and data from the local setting on the experiences of teachers and the challenges they have in implementing required ELA strategies in their classrooms. The most impactful strength this policy paper has is that it provided an opportunity for teachers to share honest thoughts and opinions of ELA strategies that could affect real and meaningful change. Chimbi and Jita (2020) found that teachers in their study were not empowered with the innovative teaching methods that reform policy expected them to use. Findings from this study suggested that teachers wanted more autonomy in ELA instruction, but felt they lacked the clarity and support to stray from their current practices. Similarly, as Alexaki et al. (2022) asserted, that teachers should be considered as the key players in policy implementation and the foundations for the knowledge economy. Providing teacher voice and influencing the possibility of teacher autonomy is the greatest strength of this project deliverable.

This policy recommendation includes a series of suggestions that offer solutions to challenges that teachers have in implementing instructional strategies in ELA. With the policy paper I highlight information on ways to improve the implementation of the teaching and learning framework that local and district leaders may not have been aware of at the school level. According to Bali et al. (2019), the effectiveness of a policy

requires ensuring that the policy addresses not only the problem within its context, but also how the policy adapts to changing conditions and circumstances over time. Part of this policy paper is the recommendation of building teacher capacity to explore, understand, assess, and use educational research to influence their knowledge surrounding evidence-based practices. Booher et al. (2020) argued that teachers may not have enough support or preparation to consider academic research to inform their instructional choices.

In the policy paper, I developed recommendations for influencing the local site that can also be disseminated at the district and state level. The recommendations and evaluation plan included in this policy paper supply invaluable data about how policies are implemented and empower teachers to use academic research when they are responding to their students' learning needs. The nuances of the policy paper include learning experiences for school and district leaders, and motivations to invigorate teaching and learning in elementary ELA classrooms. I created this policy paper with the commitment to impact change in the local school district and provide district leaders with the voices of their policy implementors.

#### **Project Limitations**

The policy paper is limited in identifying solutions to address the effective implementation of evidence-based instructional strategies in the ELA classroom. The policy paper is a step in addressing one aspect of the problem. There is evidence in the scientific literature that although research is highly relevant to PD, researchers have not

fully explored what, when, and how to teach ELA instructional strategies in a way that is applicable for teachers (Seidenberg et al., 2020). It is also possible that the administrator at the local setting or district leaders like the superintendent, executive director, director of research and PD offices, may not be willing to make a concerted effort to focus on improving a teachers' understanding of research through PD due to other more pressing or prioritized matters. A lack of support and participation on the teachers' behalf could be a limitation of this project. Martin et al. (2019) suggested that some PD may require teachers to change their personal belief systems and their teaching repertoires. Additionally, participants may find scientific research overwhelming to learn, or too time consuming to incorporate on a plate that is already overly full. Another limitation of this project could be the comfort level teachers have in engaging in such a PD. Booher et al. (2020) found that a small number of teacher participants in their study indicated that they use research in planning or spend time reviewing research (which is an expectation for many professional learning communities). Thus, teachers may feel hesitant to acknowledge or participate in groups if they feel they will be judged by administrators.

It is essential to gain support from administrators at the local setting to address the potential limitations of this project, and to present a valuable argument to district leaders. Administrators must allow teachers to have a safe space to develop their comfort in implementing ELA instructional strategies, without risk of evaluation. The use of a peer support structure like teachers teaching teachers may do that. Additionally, providing teachers with a copy of the policy recommendation paper could help to mitigate some of the reluctance to being open to new teaching practices. Finally, to address buy-in from

district leaders, I highlight how the policy recommendations reduce the number of challenges by offering viable solutions that have not been implemented.

#### **Recommendations for Alternative Approaches**

The problem that I addressed in this study was that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. Alternative definitions of the problem could encompass a focus on the experiences teachers have with instructional strategies based on their history with PD. Another way to define the problem could be to address the instructional strategies themselves, to explore teacher self-efficacy and how teachers prioritize instructional strategies in ELA.

As the researcher, I could have used alternative solutions to address the problem differently. One way to address the problem in this study would be to include administrators like the principal and assistant principal in the participant sample.

Including the administration in the sample adds a larger scope to how required ELA instructional strategies are understood in the local setting. Another way to address this problem differently could be through alternative methodology. Rather than using a basic qualitative study, I could have conducted a mixed-methods study to include policy development and revisions over the previous 10 years. I could have included previous records of PD offered to teachers related to the implementation of the policies that involved instructional strategies in ELA.

Offering a series of PD workshops could be another alternative plan to address the problem in this study. The PD workshops could have focused on techniques for scaffolding, understanding the ZPD, and potential solutions for mitigating the challenges expressed when implementing peer collaboration in the ELA classroom. School-based experts like the reading specialist, staff development teacher, and/or the instructional lead teacher would offer coaching in the PD workshops. Teachers could then collaborate and discuss the issues surrounding the implementation of strategies in ELA. Van Geel et al. (2019) supported the idea that teachers should have differentiated PD opportunities that meet their individual needs. Teachers could engage in rich discussions related to how to implement instructional strategies in ELA effectively. Instructional coaches would offer teachers differentiated support at a level that matches their needs.

Another alternative to addressing the problem in this study could have been a curriculum plan. With this plan, I could provide an example of how to implement scaffolding and provide resources for teachers for the first unit of ELA instruction. To achieve success with a curriculum plan, I would need to create a first-through fifth-grade plan to fully address the problem. In addition, administrators at the local setting would need to redesign the calendar to provide additional PD on the implementation of the curriculum plan prior to the start of the school year.

## Scholarship, Project Development, Leadership, and Change

My engagement with the research process developed my skills as a scholar, practitioner, and project-developer. When I first decided to enroll in a doctoral program, I

was completely unaware of how much I had to learn in educational research, theory, data analysis, and the value of scientific studies. As I embarked on the research study, I fully immersed myself in the literature on instructional strategies and the development of reading abilities. The vastness of educational research is truly overwhelming, but amid my review I learned how deeply passionate so many practitioners are at supporting teaching and learning.

Prior to my participation in this program, I would have considered myself to be able to learn at high levels. However, through this program I truly embraced the meaning of scholarship by synthesizing numerous research studies, developing research questions to an identified problem at the local setting, collecting, and analyzing data, and being open enough to listening to participants share their experiences. Through the development of the project deliverable, I became empowered to make informed instructional choices. My engagement with this doctoral program has taught me that my ability to learn at high levels can influence the complex world of education.

In the beginning of this program, I did not consider myself to be a scholar. I lacked research expertise, data analysis and synthesis skills, and a weakness in scholarly writing. I wanted to find solutions to the challenges teachers were facing in their mainstream classrooms, that affected student achievement, but I lacked the skill set to do so. Through the development of my scholarly voice, critical thinking skills, and practice with research procedures I was able to turn my willingness to solve problems into a passion for influencing positive social change.

I have become empowered to be an agent of change in our district. After analyzing and synthesizing the data, and through my policy recommendations I learned that I have a voice, and now I can use that voice to influence positive improvements in teaching and learning at the elementary level. While I was engaging in identifying policy recommendations, a renewed excitement surrounding instruction occurred. As a special educator, I became more confident in my abilities and skill set to meet my students needs and to collaborate with general education teachers. Throughout my engagement with this program, I have gained invaluable PD. I am a more knowledgeable educator, a researcher, a scholar-practitioner, a project-developer, and an agent of social change with a passion for influencing positive change in the local setting.

#### Reflection on the Importance of the Work

The research that I conducted includes a policy recommendation paper that offers solutions to the problem that teachers at the study site expressed challenges in implementing required instructional strategies in ELA to meet their students' learning needs. According to Neitzel et al. (2022), there is a need for additional research to draw closer connections between theory and practice in teaching reading. To that effect, policymakers, administrators, and teachers are committed to creating, designing, and implementing curricula to address the diverse needs of students (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). However, according to Seidenberg et al. (2020) there has been a lack of improvement in literacy outcomes over many years. At the local level, the percentage of proficiency on standardized assessments in ELA has trended downward. Nineteen percent of third-grade students, 39% of fourth-grade students, and 24% of fifth-grade students

were proficient on the ELA standardized assessment in 2022 (Eastern State Report Card, 2023). With this project I highlighted the significance of the national literacy problem, and the problems that come with meeting students' learning needs in ELA at a local level. In this study, I provided an analysis of elementary ELA teachers' experiences and challenges associated with the implementation of instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs.

Throughout the research and project development process, I have grown in my understanding of the complexities of the literacy problem. I can make instructional decisions based on scientific research that I have familiarized myself with, and the theories from which they were derived. I had the opportunity to engage with teachers, and truly listen to their experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies. I was fortunate to hear how passionate the participants were in helping their students succeed. In addition, I had a model of leadership by my committee chair and second committee member. The committee's commitment to guidance, support, modeling, and scaffolding learning for me is something that I hope to reflect as a teacher leader at the local level while I work to implement the project deliverable. Through the guidance of my committee, and the example of my chair, I learned the impact a scholar-practitioner who uses scholarly literature can have within the field of education and on an individual.

# Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research Implications and Applications

With this basic qualitative project study, I provided insight into the experiences and challenges that elementary teachers have when implementing instructional strategies in the ELA curriculum to meet students' learning needs. With the study's findings, I provided data that could lead to an increased understanding of what strategies elementary ELA teachers identify as the most effective and most challenging. Additionally, the findings indicate valuable information on the way the requirements apply to the ELA teachers at the study site. The insights and information from the results of this study are useful in informing policy recommendations at the local and district level. The policy paper includes viable solutions to the challenges teachers face in their ELA classroom when implementing required instructional strategies. Additionally, the findings from this study suggest that school-based leaders should plan tailored PD opportunities regarding the implementation of research-based instructional strategies. Malatesha Joshi and Wijekumar (2019) asserted that teachers reported that they felt like they did not have the autonomy to change their teaching practices. Furthermore, Martin et al. (2019) argued the importance of helping teachers see themselves as agents of change. Participants from this study substantiated the claims from the researchers by requesting that more teacher voice is included in curricular decision making and instructional strategy implementation. Thus, with this study and the policy paper I provide a platform for empowering teachers at the local site to have their voices heard by school and district policymakers.

## **Potential Impact for Positive Social Change**

Margolis (2020) argued that teachers and educational leaders misunderstand scaffolding and ZPD because of the accountability measures associated with student achievement scores. The data collection and analysis in this study suggested that elementary ELA teachers are committed to meeting their students' learning needs in ELA through scaffolding but require additional training to clarify how to use scaffolding to support student achievement. Researchers agree that effective and consistent use of instructional strategies in ELA can improve literacy achievement but can be challenging and overwhelming to implement for teachers (Gillespie Rouse et al., 2021; Goodwin et al., 2021). The project contributes to positive social change at the individual, organizational, district, and societal level.

## Social Change at the Individual Level

At the individual level, teachers are empowered by their influence on policy revision and development. Participants in the study requested to have teachers more directly involved in district requirements. This project provides a platform for teachers to have their voices heard and the challenges they face brought to the attention of administrators and district leaders. In addition, there is potential for teachers to reflect on their own practice and could acknowledge areas of growth involving ELA strategy implementation.

### Social Change at the District Level

The policy recommendations also involve positive social change at the district level. Teachers and school leaders that review the policy recommendations are the principal, assistant principal, executive director of elementary schools, director of the office of professional learning, board members, and superintendent. With this study, I enlighten the school and district leaders on teachers' current understanding of the required instructional strategies. In addition, I provide the policymakers and school-leaders with scientific data regarding how the current policies are working in the elementary ELA classroom at the local site. I could lay the foundation for honest and transparent collaboration in PLC/grade-level meetings, and leadership meetings at the study site with the project deliverable.

Finally, if accepted, the policy recommendations would directly influence the addition of teachers as key stakeholders involved in policy revision, the process that policy is developed and revised, the content and delivery model of PD opportunities on ELA instructional strategies in the local district.

## Social Change at the Organizational Level

Reshaping the role of the teacher and onboarding new teacher leaders exemplify social change at the organizational level. With the suggestions identified in the policy recommendation paper, I highlighted the need for teachers' engagement with educational research to inform their practice in their ELA classroom. With the dissemination of the

recommendations, I could influence policymakers to reshape the role of teachers to prioritize their participation in policy development and revisions.

One of the policy recommendation goals is to influence school-based administrators and instructional leaders to offer professional learning experiences that are ongoing and scaffolded for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by an MKO. Teachers in this study identified challenges in planning and learning from their colleagues. Presently, there are limited resource personnel in the study site that cannot feasibly address the needs of several teachers per grade level. As an organization, systemic changes could occur through leadership roles in the schoolhouse. If accepted, the policy recommendations could influence teachers to assume leadership roles utilizing instructional strategies. The mentorship among teachers could strengthen bonds, develop more collaboration among staff members, and provide a non-evaluative learning space for new or developing teachers teaching ELA.

#### Social Change at the Societal Level

I created the policy recommendations from the findings in this study which contribute to positive social change at the societal level. It is essential to understand a teachers' approach to ELA instruction. Meeting the diverse needs of the students in classrooms across the United States is a significant challenge for educators (Puzio et al., 2020). According to the results of a study conducted by Chai et al. (2020), teachers identified little direction and guidance regarding specific instructional practices.

Researchers argue that the instructional strategies teachers use and implement regularly

have an impact on the student achievement levels in ELA (Goodwin et al., 2021). This study adds to the body of literature that contributes to the understanding of elementary teachers' use of instructional strategies in their ELA classroom.

#### **Directions for Future Research**

In this study I aimed to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. The themes that emerged during the data analysis should be considered for future research.

Slavin (2020) argued that the most important requirement for evidence-based reform are programs and practices with clear evidence of replicability. Researchers in the future could replicate this study, and/or additional research studies could be done to expand on this research. The research participants agreed that modeling, specifically with the think-aloud was effective and necessary for their ELA instruction. How and when teachers utilize modeling would expand on this study's findings to provide more in depth understanding of how teachers implement modeling in the elementary ELA classroom. Additionally, participants agreed that a prominent challenge they have is the variability of learning needs in their ELA classrooms. Meeting the diverse needs of the students in classrooms across the United States is a significant challenge for educators (Puzio et al., 2020). Participants identified English language learners, students receiving special education services, and students with significant social and emotional learning needs as challenging to reach with the level of support they are getting. Expanding this study to

subgroups of students would allow stakeholders to look at both the general education students, and subgroups of students to determine experiences and challenges associated with multiple populations. Finally, Slavin (2020) noted that skeptics of evidence-based reform that studies that took place in one set of schools will not generalize to others. Therefore, the expansion of the parameters of the sample size to include middle school teachers, high school teachers and/or teachers from multiple schools within the district could provide teachers' viewpoints more comprehensively rather than from one elementary school. The recommendations for future research listed above contribute to the growing body of literature on teachers' experiences in challenges in implementing instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs.

#### Conclusion

With this study, I sought to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. The purpose of the study was directly aligned with the problem in the local setting that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. With the data analysis, I uncovered four themes that included a) teachers prioritize responding to student learning needs ahead of the implementation of specific instructional strategies b) teachers require clarity and support they identify as necessary to implement the required instructional strategies c) teachers are challenged by learner variability in an

attempt to meet each students' learning needs and d) teachers want more autonomy in the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA.

With the findings of this study, I highlighted the importance of exploring teachers' experiences and challenges with required instructional strategies in ELA. Teachers address obstacles daily from the challenges they face with increased diversity and learner variability in their classrooms (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Yet, the lack of ELA achievement, according to standardized assessments continues to implicate that current instructional policies and practices in the district and study site at present are not consistently increasing literacy abilities of elementary students. I designed research questions to explore the implementation of current required instructional strategies in ELA to meet their students' learning needs. I collected and analyzed data to explore the experiences and challenges of elementary ELA teachers through the lens of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT. The application of this study's findings informs district stakeholders and policymakers on current experiences and challenges that teachers face when attempting to fulfill district requirements involving the ELA instructional strategies that they implement.

#### References

- Alexaki, N., Foulidi, X., & Papakitsos, E. C. (2022). The three dimensions of inclusive education in the attempt for educational change: Cultures, policies and practices.

  \*Journal of Research Initiatives, 6(1), 5.
- Bali, A. S., Capano, G., & Ramesh, M. (2019). Anticipating and designing for policy effectiveness. *Policy and Society, 38*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2019.1579502
- Bhangu, S., Provost, F., & Caduff, C. (2023). Introduction to qualitative research methods

   Part I. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, 14(1), 39–42.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.picr\_253\_22">https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.picr\_253\_22</a>
- Bondie, R. S., Dahnke, C., & Zusho, A. (2019). How does changing "one-size-fits-all" to differentiated instruction affect teaching? *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 336–362. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130">https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130</a>
- Booher, L., Nadelson, L. S., & Nadelson, S. G. (2020). What about research and evidence? Teachers' perceptions and uses of education research to inform STEM teaching. *Journal of Educational Research*, 113(3), 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1782811
- Brown, C., & Flood, J. (2020). Exploring teachers' conceptual uses of research as part of the development and scale-up of research-informed practices. *International*

- Journal of Education Policy & Leadership, 16(12), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2020v16n10a927
- Brownfield, K., & Wilkinson, I. A. G. (2018). Examining the impact of scaffolding on literacy learning: A critical examination of research and guidelines to advance inquiry. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 90, 177–190.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K., & Crawford, L. (Eds.). (2016). The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design. Laureate Publishing.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., Crawford, L. M., & Hitchcock, J. H. (Eds.). (2019).

  Research design and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner.

  SAGE Publications.
- Carcary, Marian. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 18(2).
- Chai, H., Elston, A., & Kramer, T. (2020). Focus on literacy needs: Partnering to support balanced literacy instruction. *Reading Improvement*, *57*(3), 117–130.
- Chimbi, G. T., & Jita, L. C. (2020). Putting the cart before the horse: Curriculum reform policy and teachers' pedagogical preferences. Bulgarian Comparative Education Society.

- Council of Opportunity in Education Reading Performance. (2019). References COE Reading Performance. (2019).

  https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cnbs/coe/indicator/cnb
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating, 260, 375–382.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Sage.
- Davis, T. C., & Autin, N. P. (2020). The cognitive trio: Backward design, formative assessment, and differentiated instruction. *Research Issues in Contemporary Education*, 5(2), 55–70.
- Duff, D., & Brydon, M. (2020). Estimates of individual differences in vocabulary size in English: How many words are needed to 'close the vocabulary gap?' *Journal of Research in Reading*, 43(4), 454–481. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12322
- DuFour, R., Reeves, D., DuFour, R., & Saphier, J. (2018). Responding to the every student succeeds act with the PLC at work process. Solution Tree Press.
- Eun, B. (2019). The zone of proximal development as an overarching concept: A framework for synthesizing Vygotsky's theories. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 51(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2017.1421941

- Fisher, D., & Frey, N. (2018). Raise reading volume through access, choice, discussion, and book talks. *The Reading Teacher*, 72(1), 89–97.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1691">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1691</a></a>
- Fountas, I. C., & Pinnell, G. S. (2020). Literacy leadership from the classroom: Learning from teacher leaders. *Reading Teacher*, 74(2), 223–229.
- Fuller, E. J., Hollingworth, L., & Pendola, A. (2017). The Every Student Succeeds Act, state efforts to improve access to effective educators, and the importance of school leadership. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *53*(5), 727–756. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x17711481
- Gillespie Rouse, A., Kiuhara, S. A., & Kara, Y. (2021). Writing-to-learn in elementary classrooms: A national survey of U.S. teachers. *Reading and Writing*, *34*(9), 2381–2415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10148-3
- Goodwin, A. P., Cho, S. J., Reynolds, D., Silverman, R., & Nunn, S. (2021). Explorations of classroom talk and links to reading achievement in upper elementary classrooms. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 113(1), 27–48. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000462
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *Plos One*, *15*(5), 1–17.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076</a>
- Hatch, L., & Clark, S. K. (2021). A study of the instructional decisions and lesson planning strategies of highly effective rural elementary school teachers. *Teaching*

- and Teacher Education, 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103505
- Hikida, M. (2018). Holding space for literate identity co-construction. *Journal of Literacy*\*Research, 50(2), 217–238. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X17751824">https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X17751824</a>
- Hudson, A. K., Moore, K. A., Han, B., Wee Koh, P., Binks-Cantrell, E., & Malatesha Joshi, R. (2021). Elementary teachers' knowledge of foundational literacy skills:

  A critical piece of the puzzle in the science of reading. *Reading Research*Ouarterly, 56(S1), S287–S315. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.408
- Kamil, M. L., Borman, G. D., Dole, J., Kral, C. C., Salinger, T., & Torgesen, J. (2008).
   Improving adolescent literacy: Effective classroom and intervention practices. A
   Practice Guide (NCEE #2008-4027). Washington, DC: National Center for
   Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Institute of Education Sciences,
   U.S. Department of Education. http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc
- Lungu, M. (2022). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. *American Journal of Qualitative Research*, 6(1), 232–237. https://doi.org/10.29333/ajqr/12085
- Malatesha Joshi, R., & Wijekumar, K. K. (2019). Introduction: Teacher perception, self-efficacy and teacher knowledge relating to literacy. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 69(1), 1–4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-00173-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-00173-3</a>
- Margolis, A. A. (2020). Zone of proximal development, scaffolding, and teaching practice. *Cultural-Historical Psychology*, *16*(3), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.17759/chp.2020160303
- Mariage, T. V., Englert, C. S., & Mariage, M. F. (2020). Comprehension instruction for tier two early learners: A scaffolded apprenticeship for close reading of

- informational text. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *43*(1), 29–42. http://doi.org/10.1177/0731948719861106
- Martin, L. E., Kragler, S., Quatroche, D., & Bauserman, K. (2019). Transforming schools: The power of teachers' input in [PD]. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 9(1), 179–188. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2019.09.1.13">https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2019.09.1.13</a>
- McGown, J. A. M., & Slate, J. R. (2019). Differences by economic status in grade three reading performance: A Texas multiyear study. *Athens Journal of Education*, 6(3), 189–208. <a href="https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.6-3-2">https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.6-3-2</a>
- Mckeown, D., Brindle, M., Sandmel, K., Steinbrecher, T. D., Graham, S., Lane, K. L., & Oakes, W. P. (2019). Teachers' voices: Perceptions of effective [PD] and class wide implementation of self-regulated strategy development in writing. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(3), 753–791.

  https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218804146
- McKeown, M. G. (2019). Effective vocabulary instruction fosters knowing words, using words, and understanding how words work. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50*(4), 466–476. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0126">https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0126</a>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). Qualitative research: A guide to design & implementation. Jossey-Bass.
- Mondesir, B., & Griffin, R. (2020). A balanced approach to literacy instruction and support for diverse learners, *Georgia Journal of Literacy*, 43(1). https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/gjl/vol43/iss1/4

- Muyunda, G. (2021). Re-entry policy implementation effectiveness: A case of secondary schools in Lusaka, district, Zambia. *International Journal of Asian Education*, *2* (2), 167–181. https://doi.org/10.46966/ijae.v2i2.151
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). State Profiles. U.S. Dept. of Education,

  Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

  <a href="https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2019R3">https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2019R3</a>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019a). *State Profiles*. U.S. Dept. of Education,

  Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

  <a href="https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2017R3">https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2017R3</a>
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, & Council of Chief State

  School Officers. (2010). Common Core State Standards for [ELA]: Introduction.

  <a href="http://www.corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/">http://www.corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/</a>
- Navy, S. L., Maeng, J. L., & Bell, R. L. (2019). Learning from a state [PD] conference for science teachers: Beginning secondary science teachers' experiences. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 30(4), 409–428.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2019.1584512">https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2019.1584512</a>
- Neitzel, A. J., Lake, C., Pellegrini, M., & Slavin, R. E. (2022). A Synthesis of quantitative research on programs for struggling readers in elementary schools. *Reading Research Quarterly, 57*(1), 149-179. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.379">https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.379</a>
  Northrop, L., & Kelly, S. (2019). Who gets to read what? Tracking, instructional

- practices, and Text complexity for middle school struggling readers. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *54*(3), 339–361. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.237">https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.237</a>
- Ozbay, I., & Karaoglu, S. (2022). Reflection of policy documents in early years' educational settings during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 17(7), 198–208. http://doi.org/10.5897/ERR2022.4249
- Pletcher, B. C., Hudson, A. K., & Watson, K. (2019). "I want to learn from them as much as I want them to learn from me": Finding a balance of coaching and consulting through the analysis of a literacy coach's conversations. *Reading Horizons*, 58(1), 48–74. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/reading horizons/vol58/iss1/4
- Polly, D., & Byker, E. (2020). Considering the role of zone of proximal development and constructivism in supporting teachers' TPACK and effective use of technology.

  \*Revista de Educación a Distancia, 20(64). <a href="http://doi.org/10.6018/red.408661">http://doi.org/10.6018/red.408661</a>
- Pomerantez, F., & Pierce, M. (2019). "When do we get to read?" Reading instruction and literacy coaching in a "failed" urban elementary school. *Reading Improvement*, 56(2), 89–106.
- Puzio, K., Colby, G. T., & Algeo-Nichols, D. (2020). Differentiated literacy instruction:

  Boondoggle or best practice? *Review of Educational Research*, 90(4), 459–498.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320933536">https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320933536</a></a>
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2021). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical and methodological. Sage Publications
- Revelle, K. Z. (2019). Teacher perceptions of a project-based approach to social studies and literacy instruction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 84, 95-105.

## https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.04.016

- Saldaña, J., & Omasta, M. (2022). *Qualitative research: Analyzing life (*2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Sari, L. E. (2020). The significance of parental involvement in early childhood inclusion.

  Scientific Repository, 3(2), 92. https://doi.org/10.26740/inklusi.v3n2.p92-101
- Schutz, K. M., & Rainey, E. C. (2020). Making sense of modeling in elementary literacy instruction. *The Reading Teacher*, 73(4), 443-451.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1863">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1863</a>
- See, B. H., Morris, R., Gorard, S., & El Soufi, N. (2020). What works in attracting and retaining teachers in challenging schools and areas? *Oxford Review of Education,* 46(6), 678-697. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2020.1775566">https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2020.1775566</a>
- Seidenberg, M. S., Cooper Borkenhagen, M., & Kearns, D. M. (2020). Lost in translation? Challenges in connecting reading science and educational practice.

  \*Reading Research Quarterly, 55, S119–S130. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.341">https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.341</a>
- Shanahan, T. (2020). What constitutes a science of reading instruction? *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55(S1). https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.349
- Slavin, R. E. (2020). How evidence-based reform will transform research and practice in education. *Educational Psychologist*, 55(1), 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1611432
- Smagorinsky, P. (2018). Deconflating the ZPD and instructional scaffolding:

  Retranslating and reconceiving the zone of proximal development as the zone of next development. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction*, 16, 70-75.

# https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2017.10.009

- Smets, W., & Struyven, K. (2018). Aligning with complexity: System-theoretical principles for research on differentiated instruction. *Frontline Learning Research*, 6(2), 66–80. https://doi.org/10.14786/flr.v6i2.340
- Sprott, R. A. (2019). Factors that foster and deter advanced teachers' professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 321-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.11.001
- Strong, J. Z., Amendum, S. J., & Conradi Smith, K. (2018). Supporting elementary students' reading of difficult texts. *The Reading Teacher*, 72(2), 201-212. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1702">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1702</a>
- Tawfik, A. A., Gishbaugher, J. J., Gatewood, J., & Arrington, T. L. (2021). How K–12 teachers adapt problem-based learning over time. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, *15*(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.14434/ijpbl.v15i1.29662">https://doi.org/10.14434/ijpbl.v15i1.29662</a>
- Taylor, L. A. (2021). Scaffolding literacy learning through talk: Stance as a pedagogical tool. *The Reading Teacher*, 74(4), 375–383. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1958">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1958</a>
- Thompson, I. (2013). The mediation of learning in the zone of proximal development through a co-constructed writing activity. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 47(3), 247-276. <a href="https://library.ncte.org/journals/rte/issues/v47-3/22712">https://library.ncte.org/journals/rte/issues/v47-3/22712</a>
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

  Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19(1), 1–11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174</a>
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1999). The differentiated classroom: Responding to the needs of all

- learners. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tortorelli, L. S., Lupo, S. M., & Wheatley, B. C. (2021). Examining teacher preparation for code-related reading instruction: An integrated literature review. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *56*(S1). https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.396
- Tracey, D. H., & Morrow, L. M. (2017). Lenses on reading: An introduction to theories and models (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Troyer, M. (2019). Teachers' adaptations to and orientations towards an adolescent literacy curriculum. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 51(2), 202–228. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1407458">https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1407458</a>
- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. (2023). What you need to know about literacy.

  UNESCO. <a href="https://www.unesco.org/en/literacy/need-know">https://www.unesco.org/en/literacy/need-know</a>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). Programs: Improving basic programs operated by local educational agencies (Title I, Part A).
  <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html">https://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html</a>
- Van Geel, M., Keuning, T., Frèrejean, J., Dolmans, D., van Merriënboer, J., & Visscher, A. J. (2019). Capturing the complexity of differentiated instruction. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 30(1), 51–67.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2018.1539013">https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2018.1539013</a>
- Van Loon, M. H., Bayard, N. S., Steiner, M., & Roebers, C. M. (2021). Connecting teachers' classroom instructions with children's metacognition and learning.

  Metacognition and Learning, 16(3), 623–650. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11409-020-09248-2

- Van Rijk, Y., Volman, M., de Haan, D., & van Oers, B. (2017). Maximizing meaning: creating a learning environment for reading comprehension of informative texts from a Vygotskian perspective. *Learning Environments Research*, 20(1), 77–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-016-9218-5
- Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1993). The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky: *The fundamentals of defectology (abnormal psychology and learning disabilities)*. Springer.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (2011). The Dynamics of the Schoolchild's Mental Development in Relation to Teaching and Learning. *Journal of Cognitive Education and Psychology*, 10(2), 198–211. https://doi.org/10.1891/1945-8959.10.2.198
- Webb, S., Massey, D., Goggans, M., & Flajole, K. (2019). Thirty-five years of the gradual release of responsibility: Scaffolding toward complex and responsive teaching. *The Reading Teacher*, 73(1), 75–83. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1799">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1799</a>
- Yadav, D. (2022). Criteria for good qualitative research: A comprehensive review. *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 31(6), 679–689. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00619-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00619-0</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (Sixth edition). Sarah and George Publications.
- Zucker, T. A., Cabell, S. Q., Oh, Y., & Wang, X. (2020). Asking questions is just the first step: Using upward and downward scaffolds. *Reading Teacher*, 74(3), 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1943

# Appendix A: The Project

Policy Recommendations for Elementary ELA Teachers' Implementation of Required

Instructional Strategies

Walden University

A Policy Paper

By

Amanda Slaysman

#### **Background of Existing Problem**

There is a literacy problem, which exists broadly and in the local setting. In a National Assessment of Educational Progress report from 2017, 35% of fourth-grade students achieved proficiency levels in reading, and in 2019 that percentage declined to 34% (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019). Furthermore, according to a report from the National Center of Education Statistics, the average fourth-grade reading score on a standardized assessment in 2019 was lower than the 2017 score when the assessment was previously administered (Council of Opportunity in Education – Reading Performance, 2019). According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, 2023), 250 million children are failing to acquire basic literacy skills in the world. The statistics on underachievement in literacy are a symptom of the lack of improvement in reading at the local and national level.

Fountas & Pinnell (2020), argued that the effectiveness of literacy education in the classroom depends on the expertise of the teacher. However, teachers have expressed experiencing many challenges which could affect implementation of instructional strategies. For example, according to Tawfik et al. (2021) teachers are bound to accountability testing which drives their curricular and instructional strategies, and often cause teachers to adapt materials to fit testing constraints. Teachers must believe in and fully understand how to implement the strategies for instruction to become effective in increasing achievement levels in ELA (Northrop & Kelly, 2019).

The problem is that in response to low standardized test scores, several instructional strategies (explicit modeling, think-alouds, scaffolding, peer collaboration, and pre-teaching vocabulary instruction) have been required, but teachers in Grades 1 through 5 in the Eastern State school experience challenges using these strategies to meet student learning needs. Some teachers reported challenges in facilitating peer collaboration due to time constraints and testing accountability and guiding all students with think-aloud or modeling techniques according to data meeting minutes. Minutes from grade level planning meetings in Grades 1 through 5 indicated that teachers expressed difficulty implementing small group instruction during ELA, and reported they felt challenged by scaffolding ELA concepts for struggling readers. Similarly, minutes from a literacy action team meeting suggested that teachers feel challenged when attempting to include peer collaboration on ELA tasks. According to faculty meeting minutes in March 2022, teachers in the local setting shared challenges specific to implementing the ELA curriculum and instructional strategies required by the district.

The teachers in the local setting expressed that there are unrealistic expectations and increasing demands placed on them when implementing ELA instruction. Challenges that teachers reported included a lack of time to implement effective small group instruction, testing constraints taking up instructional time, significant differences in student ability level, grade level standard expectations are too high, lack of ideas for different ways to scaffold for students significantly below grade level, difficulty reaching all students in one whole group mini-lesson, and lack of consistent support for struggling readers like last minute changes to instruction due to classroom support pulled for

subbing. The instructional strategies teachers use and implement regularly have an impact on the student achievement levels in ELA (Goodwin et al., 2021). A gap in practice exists at the local level where, according to the district strategic plan and the ELA curriculum, instructional strategies involving peer collaboration and adult guidance are recommended to meet their students' literacy needs. However, teachers in the study site have reported challenges when implementing the ELA instructional strategies recommended.

#### **Research Study**

I conducted a basic qualitative study to explore teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies included in the ELA curriculum to meet student learning needs. I collected data using semistructured interviews via Zoom with ten elementary ELA teachers that at one school in the Eastern State Public School District and were: (a) employed at the study site (b) taught ELA in Grades 1 through 5 (c) self-reported experience in implementing instructional strategies involving adult guidance and peer collaboration. I recorded and transcribed all semistructured interviews using Zoom software and checked them manually. Following the transcription of the interviews, I gave the participants an opportunity to review their transcripts for accuracy through the member checking process. After the participants reviewed their transcripts, I began the data analysis process.

I began the process using manual coding to immerse myself in the data. Each time a coding cycle occurred I read the transcript, and listened to the recording, then reread the transcript to ensure my codes accurately reflected the participants' responses. I

established a priori codes from Vygotsky's SDT prior to manual coding, where I broke the data into discrete parts. Additionally, while reviewing the data I recorded my thoughts and feelings in a reflective log.

After I completed manual coding, I uploaded all participants' transcripts into Quirkos online software, where I began my open coding cycles. I generated open codes by reading, listening, recording in reflection log, and re-reading the transcripts line by line, highlighting key excerpts, and assigning a code. After I completed the first open coding cycle, I started axial coding. For the axial coding cycles, I color coded excerpts and created a code map which connected codes with similar meanings. I grouped the codes by commonalities until they became categories. Between each coding cycle, I waited five days to revisit the same transcript. The purpose of waiting was to ensure that I was fully immersed in analysis, recorded genuine thoughts and biases in my reflection log, and had fresh eyes when identifying connections among codes. I reviewed the categories for patterns that emerged across the data. The themes that emerged provided an understanding of the participants' experiences and challenges when they implemented the required ELA instructional strategies. This policy recommendation evolved from the study's findings and provided my suggestions for improving the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and utilizing the thinkaloud strategy/modeling, which could lead to enhanced ELA instruction at the elementary level.

I designed this study from the conceptual framework of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT. Vygotsky (1978) believed that learning, not developing, is an active and social process and that the MKO, the ZPD, and scaffolding within the ZPD can aid students in reaching their full academic potential (Van Rijk et al., 2017). The most relevant elements of ZPD and scaffolding include establishing activities to support learning, identifying the effectiveness of the activities to support student independence, and gradually allowing the student to hold independent responsibility for the activities (Van Rijk et al., 2017; Vygotsky 1978). Additionally, Vygotsky (1978) argued that someone more capable, an MKO, is the key to acquiring new knowledge (Pomerantez & Pierce, 2019). A teacher, for this study the MKO, must be knowledgeable and aware to target the areas that are sensitive to instruction during a specific time, ZPD, with the appropriate support, scaffolds, and guidance (Eun, 2019). In this policy recommendation, I offer suggestions on how to support elementary ELA teachers in Grades 1 through 5 on the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and using the thinkaloud strategy/modeling to meet their students' learning needs based on the experiences and challenges of the ten participants in this study. The purpose of the policy recommendation paper is to offer suggestions on how to support elementary ELA teachers in Grades 1 through 5 on the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and utilizing the think-aloud strategy/modeling to meet their students' learning needs. With this policy paper I highlight best practice suggestions, grounded in current scholarly literature on the ELA instructional strategies required in the local study site. The findings of this study consist of four major themes: (a) teachers are

committed to responding to student learning needs (b) support and clarity (c) teacher autonomy, and (d) teachers face challenges when addressing learner variability.

## **Background of Existing Policy**

In the Eastern State School District, policies and superintendent rules provide guidelines for professional learning. The Board of Education votes on the policies and rules and disseminates them to teaching staff through a weekly bulletin provided via email. The policies and rules include process and procedures, scope, and accountability measures. The district defines PD using two categories, system wide professional learning and school-based professional learning. According to current policy 4011 in the Eastern State District, "Professional Learning is defined as a comprehensive, sustained, and intensive approach to improving employees' effectiveness in raising student achievement." (Eastern State School District, 2023, Pg. 1). The scope of professional learning opportunities "may include but are not limited to on the-job training; internal and external PD courses, seminars, and conferences; academic development; peer coaching and mentoring; action research; advanced professional study; school and office visitation; research and study of best practices; and study groups." (Eastern State School District, 2023, Pg. 1). To implement the process of professional learning, Policy 4011 states, "Systemic and coordinated delivery of necessary knowledge and skills will be focused on the improvement of student achievement" (Eastern State School District, 2023, Pg. 1). Other policies and superintendent rules address the nuances of professional learning in the Eastern State School District, however, policy 4011 is the most relevant to the scope and purpose of this policy recommendation.

The Teaching and Learning framework and accompanying documents expand on the policy and instructional requirements. The framework states that teachers are required to demonstrate knowledge of current evidence-based strategies and pedagogy, instruction must reflect the curriculum and recommended pacing, explicitly share their thought process aloud, and implement system programs and resources with fidelity, while being responsive to learner variability (Eastern State School District, 2020). School-based professional learning is directed to the principals who are identified as responsible for providing PD opportunities "within the school according to the needs of the faculty." Vague terminology has contributed to lack of clarity surrounding policy implementation in the ELA classroom. Therefore, instead of delineating PD opportunities to principals in the general terms "based on the needs of the faculty," I propose four recommendations related to school-based PD to be included in the policy.

#### **Policy Recommendations**

I developed the policy recommendations from a research study which explored teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies to meet students' learning needs. The policy recommendations include the following:

 Recommendation 1: Responsive PD Opportunities Using Educational ResearchSchool-based PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies.

# Recommendation 2: PD Experiences Defined as Ongoing and Scaffolded-

PD experiences are ongoing and scaffolded to provide clarity and support for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by a more knowledgeable colleague.

- Recommendation 3: PD Designed to Address Teacher's Feedback PD at the school level is designed to address teachers' feedback.
- Recommendation 4: Involving Teachers in Continuous Policy
   Revision-

The implementation of a continuous process where teachers are directly involved in the revision and development of relevant and realistic school policies involving PD.

## **Goals of the Policy Recommendations**

I derived the policy recommendations directly from elementary teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required ELA instructional strategies. The goals of the policy recommendations are linked to the themes that emerged from the findings of this research study. The goals of this policy paper are to:

 Goal for Recommendation 1: Responsive PD Opportunities Using Educational Research-

Develop an implementation plan that addresses utilizing required instructional strategies responding to individual learner needs in ELA and the challenges teachers face related to learner variability.

 Goal for Recommendation 2: PD Experiences Defined as Ongoing and Scaffolded-

Channel teachers' commitment to meeting students' learning in ELA by increasing teachers' understanding and engagement with educational research.

Goal for Recommendation 3: PD Designed to Address Teacher's
 Feedback-

Provide clarity on the implementation of instructional strategies in ELA, and implement effective support linked to ELA instruction through meaningful PD.

 Goal for Recommendation 4: Involving Teachers in Continuous Policy Revision-

Improve teacher autonomy by providing a platform for teachers' involvement in the development and revisions of policies.

#### **Evidence**

The policy recommendation outlined below is a direct result of the study's findings. By creating this policy recommendation paper, I aim to increase the necessary stakeholders' (teachers, administrators, executive director, district leadership staff, and superintendent) understanding of the experiences and challenges of elementary ELA teachers when implementing required instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs. By highlighting the current implementation of existing policy, I provide the foundation for bridging the gap between the policy on best practices and the implementation of those practices in elementary ELA classrooms. Specifically, the policy recommendations are based on the four major themes that emerged from the research study.

## Recommendation 1: Responsive PD Opportunities Using Educational Research

District policy suggests that the needs of the faculty drive PD opportunities and are determined by the principal. I recommend the policy specifically states that PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies.

The lack of improvement in literacy outcomes, globally, over many years has led to pressure from policy makers and district leaders to incorporate scientific research into instructional practices, and teacher education (Seidenberg et al., 2020). Seidenberg et al. (2020) asserted that familiarity with core research findings, the ability to critically assess the quality and validity of a research study, and the relationship among findings of

research studies is not strongly emphasized in professional training. In a study conducted by Slavin (2020), the findings suggested that teachers rely on advice from friends and colleagues, guidance from people they trust, or online tools like Pinterest TM and rarely consult educational research. Booher et al. (2020) conducted a study to explore how teachers engaged with educational research. The results revealed that 48% of the participants were neutral toward the idea that research could be used to improve student learning, and 47% were neutral toward seeking empirical research for solutions or justification of their instructional choices. In contrast, a limited number of participants indicated that they use research in planning (Booher et al., 2020). Similarly, a mixedmethods study conducted by Brown and Flood (2020) to understand how teachers understood, assessed, and made use of research. Pre- and Post-intervention surveys and semistructured interviews were collected from 15 participants. The results of the study were like the discussion from Booher et al. (2020). The researchers of both studies argued that teachers value research but have limited training which results in substantially different perceptions of their ability to recognize and interpret research to inform their practice.

The first theme that emerged was that teachers were committed to responding to student learning needs in ELA. The participants described several instructional strategies that were useful and involved adult guidance. Specifically, explicit modeling and the think aloud strategy were cited most often in the participants' responses. Several participants expressed that the think aloud strategy was the most effective in meeting student learning needs. Secondary to the think aloud strategy was what teachers referred

to as small group instruction. Participants referred to small group instruction as the most used instructional strategy that they found most effective in meeting student learning needs. However, participants did not mention scaffolding within small groups to meet student learning needs. Teachers also expressed that while they felt that peer collaboration is valuable, they utilize it more for engagement purposes rather than to meet students' learning needs. Participants indicated that student behavior, classroom management, a lack of time, and additional planning were challenges that impeded their implementation of peer collaboration as an instructional strategy. Overall, teachers stressed the importance of what each child needs in their ELA classroom and valued their commitment to addressing those needs. However, many participants felt their knowledge on how to meet those learning needs through instructional strategies was lacking.

The participants at the local setting agreed that the required instructional strategies are powerful but expressed that the challenges associated with them created feasibility issues. Some participants indicated that they do not fully understand or implement scaffolding or the use of a more knowledgeable other, while others indicated that they understood the strategies but did not implement them as they are intended to be implemented when responding to their students' learning needs in ELA.

To enhance the transferability of policy into the classroom, teachers need to have a solid and cohesive understanding of the instructional strategies that they are required to implement. The evidence from the participants in this research study suggested that teachers value and prioritize the needs of the individual and being responsive in

instructional practice. Therefore, PD policy should be responsive to their needs as learners. One way that engagement with educational research could be accomplished is by providing a monthly newsletter via email containing current peer reviewed educational research studies that support and clarify the instructional requirements in the district. A non-evaluative colleague could create the newsletter so that participants are comfortable sharing their areas of need. The newsletter could also include the opportunity for teachers to indicate their current level of understanding on instructional strategies and provide their learning needs and interests in subsequent months through an online feedback form. Specifically stating in the PD policy that PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies.

# Recommendation 2: PD Experiences Defined as Ongoing and Scaffolded

District policy states that school-based PD should be based on the needs of the faculty as identified by the principal. I suggest that the policy should specifically state that PD experiences are ongoing and scaffolded to provide clarity and support for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by a more knowledgeable colleague.

A teachers' ability to teach can be supported and refined by PD (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). In this study, some participants requested specific PD on the current instructional strategies identified as required, while others stressed that they simply were not clear on/needed help with how to address their students' learning needs while simultaneously

meeting district demands. Teachers expressed a willingness and desire for ongoing coaching opportunities, clarification, and support in meeting their students' literacy needs through scaffolding and implementing peer collaboration effectively. Participants in this research study also expressed varying uses of the term scaffolding when attempting to implement instructional strategies to meet their students' needs in ELA. Literacy educators are familiar with terminology related to instruction, but we cannot assume that everyone has the same understanding of what those terms involve (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). As such, teachers can experience additional challenges in improving their craft with a lack of shared professional terminology (Schutz & Rainey, 2020). At present, there is no defined PD policy that provides elementary ELA teachers with ongoing, systematic, differentiated, and individualized PD that identifies current research associated with evidence-based instructional strategies that are identified in the ELA curriculum.

Not all PD is valuable. Hudson et al. (2021), advocated for PD that provides teachers with the opportunity to enhance their skills under the supervision of an expert. While conferences, teacher choice, and relevance to current issues as well as accessibility to all participants is deemed effective by other researchers (Mckeown et al., 2019; Navy et al., 2019). It is evident that the findings from this study support the argument of some researchers that positive changes linked to student achievement do not exist within the policy, but rather begin in the policy and are developed through the training and contributions of the educators implementing them (Alexaki et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020). Some researchers have supported the notion that policy reformers have "placed the cart, reform policy, in front of the horse, the teacher,

before harnessing and training the horse to pull the cart" (Chimbi & Jita, 2020, p. 14).

Researchers agree that an effective policy not only addresses the problem, but also adapts to changing conditions over time (Alexaki et al., 2022; Bali et al., 2019; Sari, 2020).

Teachers need a safe environment to read and understand current research surrounding instructional strategies in ELA, and the opportunity to be guided through the implementation of newly acquired skills and knowledge to increase capacity. The tenets of Vygotsky's (1978) SDT apply to the adult learner, specifically teacher PD (Polly & Byker, 2020). A teachers' interaction with their peers when offering support or guidance deepens their understanding of best practices (Polly & Byker, 2020). Similarly, Sprott (2019) argued that effective PD scaffolds new learning for teachers and when this occurs teachers leave the experience feeling as they have gained usable knowledge for their classrooms.

One way to implement this policy could be to have a non-evaluative colleague at the study site implement a research study group monthly throughout the school year. The study group would include educational research studies surrounding ELA instructional strategies. The participants could engage in using scientific literature to ultimately inform their practice. Participants could support each other in discussing evidence-based practices and determine what other topics interest them for subsequent sessions.

## Recommendation 3: PD Designed to Address Teacher's Feedback and Include Choice

Presently, district policy loosely defines school-based PD. By describing PD in general terms, many possibilities of PD could serve a multitude of purposes. However,

ambiguity in policy can affect the effectiveness of PD. I recommend that school-based PD is described in specific terms by stating that PD should be designed to address teachers' feedback and include choice.

The third theme that emerged from the data in this study is that teachers are challenged by learner variability. Each participant expressed that they recognized each learner has different needs when developing independence on ELA skills. However, the participants expressed struggles in addressing learner variability despite their commitment to do so. The challenges that teachers reported most often referred to the extensive time commitment to planning and delivering scaffolded instruction for students below grade level expectations. The challenge of needing more time to identify instructional strategies needed to targeted instruction to student ELA learning needs was coupled with utilizing an MKO to address learning needs. Participants shared that they often partnered a more capable peer with a struggling learner during independent tasks. However, participants shared that while using an MKO was helpful in addressing barriers due to learner variability, peer collaboration turned into social conversations and often off-task student behavior. Finally, teachers expressed frustrations in knowing what to do to address each student's learning needs and when to implement those strategies with the other priorities they are required to address in ELA each day. According to Thibodeaux et al. (2019), when choice is offered during learning, all learners, including adults, feel ownership over their own learning and improves results of the learning experience. While the participants shared commonalities in their responses, the order with which their concerns were presented varied. Some participants were very concerned about peer

collaboration and behavior management, while other participants shared that concern but elaborated more on identifying the learning needs of struggling readers. As learners, teachers' must be able to drive their own learning, to transfer new knowledge into their classroom. Power and Goodnough (2019) suggested that when teachers believed that they were supported by administration and district leaders in selecting their own learning experiences, they were more motivated to persist in transferring knowledge gained from PD into their classroom.

One way to implement this policy recommendation could be through designing PD around teachers' feedback on their experiences and challenges implementing required ELA instructional strategies. Teachers could work with an MKO to apply what is learned from educational research studies into practice in their classroom. Teachers could self-direct the topics of book studies/academic journals in monthly research group meetings, engage in learning walks with peers, and come back the next week to dictate where the learning continues based on their experiences with application.

#### Recommendation 4: Involving Teachers in Continuous Policy Revision

District and school-based PD policy states that the principal determines the needs of faculty and identifying necessary and relevant PD. I recommend that the policy should include a continuous policy revision where teachers are directly involved in the revision and development of relevant and realistic policies.

The final theme that emerged was that teachers want more autonomy in implementing required instructional strategies that meet their student's learning needs in

ELA. Teachers expressed that they want more of their voice embedded in deciding what instructional strategies they will employ within the curriculum. According to Merriam Webster (n.d.), autonomy is defined as "the quality or state of being self-governing; self-directed freedom." Participants in this study shared a concern for their ability to both meet their students' learning needs and adhere to district expectations. Some participants explicitly shared that there is a lack of teacher voice in determining how to meet their students' needs in ELA. Overall, teachers expressed that they wanted to have the capacity to have self-directed freedom but lacked the confidence to do so because of testing constraints, preparedness, and/or adequate training and guidance to implement the instructional strategies in ELA. The participants at the local setting agreed that the required instructional strategies are powerful but expressed a lack of autonomy in implementing all the strategies in their ELA classrooms due to challenges that they have faced in attempting to do so.

Alexaki et al. (2022) asserted that educational policy changes must include diverse characteristics and recommendations with the teachers considered as the key players in knowledge and implementation. Researchers have also agreed that teachers as the policy implementers should be perceived as knowledgeable beings that can make significant contributions to both the implementation and formulation of policies in education (Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020). Teachers in this study want to have a voice and want to feel like they have autonomy in meeting their students' learning needs in ELA. Malatesha Joshi & Wijekumar, (2019) argued that teachers felt like they did not have the autonomy to change their teaching practices after some PD

experiences. Researchers agree that Policy effectiveness not only addresses the problem, but also adapts to changing conditions over time (Alexaki et al., 2022; Bali et al., 2019; Sari, 2020).

Instructional leaders and district officials need to make a concerted effort to consider the experiences and challenges of the teachers faced with implementing the ELA curriculum. Teachers as the policy implementers should be perceived as knowledgeable beings that can make significant contributions to both the implementation and formulation of policies in education (Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020). Therefore, the school-based policy for PD should explicitly state that teachers are vital stakeholders in policy development and revision to make relevant and realistic policies that have impact in the ELA classroom.

A policy paper can address a specific policy, and/or offer clear recommendations so that policy makers can make informed decisions about needed change (Gaber & Gaber, 2017). In this case, the findings from this study support the findings discussed by the body of research on the implementation of educational policy. It is evident that the findings from this study support the argument of previous researchers that positive changes linked to student achievement do not exist within the policy, but rather begin in the policy and are developed through the training and contributions of the educators implementing them (Alexaki et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2019; Chimbi & Jita, 2020; Sari, 2020).

#### Conclusion

Elementary ELA teachers at the study site provided their experiences and challenges faced when implementing required instructional strategies to meet their students' learning needs. The policy recommendations in this section were constructed through the study's conceptual framework, the SDT by Vygotsky (1978). The data that I collected indicated that the ten participants experienced challenges related to the implementation of scaffolding, peer collaboration, explicit vocabulary instruction, and modeling. The study's findings included four themes that emerged from the data collection: (a) teachers are committed to responding to students' learning needs (b) support and clarity (c) teacher autonomy and (d) teachers face challenges with learner variability. The findings are addressed through the policy recommendations that include specific additions to the current school-based policy on PD. Policy recommendations include: (a) stating school-based PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies (b) PD experiences are ongoing and scaffolded to provide clarity and support for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by a more knowledgeable colleague (c) PD at the school level is designed to address teachers' feedback and offer choice, and (d) continuous policy revisions where teachers are directly involved to establish relevant and realistic school policies involving PD.

If local administration, and district stakeholders adopt the policy recommendations several positive changes could occur. Most importantly, sharing real and honest experiences and challenges faced in the elementary classroom allows teachers to have their voice heard by policy makers and district leaders. Influencing the possibility

of teacher autonomy is the greatest strength of this policy recommendation. Additionally, the policy paper highlights information on ways to improve the implementation of the Teaching and Learning Framework that local and district leaders may not have been aware of. According to Bali et al. (2019), the effectiveness of a policy requires ensuring that the policy addresses not only the problem within its context, but also how the policy adapts to changing conditions and circumstances over time. Part of this policy paper is the recommendation of building teacher capacity to explore, understand, assess, and utilize educational research to influence their knowledge surrounding evidence-based practices. Educational research is constantly growing with new findings related to best practices. However, teachers are rarely privy to such scientific knowledge. The nuances of the policy paper include learning experiences for school and district leaders, and motivations to invigorate teaching and learning in elementary ELA classrooms. I created this policy paper with the commitment to impact change in the local school district and provide district leaders with the voices of their policy implementors.

#### References

- Alexaki, N., Foulidi, X., & Papakitsos, E. C. (2022). The three dimensions of inclusive education in the attempt for educational change: Cultures, policies and practices.

  \*Journal of Research Initiatives, 6(1), 5.
- Bali, A. S., Capano, G., & Ramesh, M. (2019). Anticipating and designing for policy effectiveness. *Policy and Society, 38*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2019.1579502
- Bhangu, S., Provost, F., & Caduff, C. (2023). Introduction to qualitative research methods

   Part I. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, 14(1), 39–42.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.picr\_253\_22">https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.picr\_253\_22</a>
- Bondie, R. S., Dahnke, C., & Zusho, A. (2019). How does changing "one-size-fits-all" to differentiated instruction affect teaching? *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 336–362. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130">https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130</a>
- Booher, L., Nadelson, L. S., & Nadelson, S. G. (2020). What about research and evidence? Teachers' perceptions and uses of education research to inform STEM teaching. *Journal of Educational Research*, 113(3), 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1782811
- Brown, C., & Flood, J. (2020). Exploring teachers' conceptual uses of research as part of the development and scale-up of research-informed practices. *International*

- Journal of Education Policy & Leadership, 16(12), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2020v16n10a927
- Brownfield, K., & Wilkinson, I. A. G. (2018). Examining the impact of scaffolding on literacy learning: A critical examination of research and guidelines to advance inquiry. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 90, 177–190.
- Chai, H., Elston, A., & Kramer, T. (2020). Focus on literacy needs: Partnering to support balanced literacy instruction. *Reading Improvement*, *57*(3), 117–130.
- Chimbi, G. T., & Jita, L. C. (2020). Putting the cart before the horse: Curriculum reform policy and teachers' pedagogical preferences. Bulgarian Comparative Education Society.
- Duff, D., & Brydon, M. (2020). Estimates of individual differences in vocabulary size in English: How many words are needed to 'close the vocabulary gap?' *Journal of Research in Reading*, 43(4), 454–481. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12322">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12322</a>
- Fountas, I. C., & Pinnell, G. S. (2020). Literacy leadership from the classroom: Learning from teacher leaders. *Reading Teacher*, 74(2), 223–229.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1945">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1945</a>
- Gaber, J. & Gaber, S. (2017). Qualitative analysis for planning & policy; Beyond the

- numbers. Routledge.
- Goodwin, A. P., Cho, S. J., Reynolds, D., Silverman, R., & Nunn, S. (2021). Explorations of classroom talk and links to reading achievement in upper elementary classrooms. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 113(1), 27–48. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000462
- Gorard, S., See, B. H., & Siddiqui, N. (2020). What is the evidence on the best way to get evidence into use in education? *Review of Education*, 8(2), 570–610. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3200
- Malatesha Joshi, R., & Wijekumar, K. K. (2019). Introduction: Teacher perception, self-efficacy and teacher knowledge relating to literacy. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 69(1), 1–4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-00173-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11881-018-00173-3</a>
- Margolis, A. A. (2020). Zone of proximal development, scaffolding, and teaching practice. *Cultural-Historical Psychology*, *16*(3), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.17759/chp.2020160303
- Mariage, T. V., Englert, C. S., & Mariage, M. F. (2020). Comprehension instruction for tier two early learners: A scaffolded apprenticeship for close reading of informational text. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 43(1), 29–42.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/0731948719861106">http://doi.org/10.1177/0731948719861106</a>
- Martin, L. E., Kragler, S., Quatroche, D., & Bauserman, K. (2019). Transforming schools: The power of teachers' input in [PD]. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 9(1), 179–188. https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2019.09.1.13
- McGown, J. A. M., & Slate, J. R. (2019). Differences by economic status in grade three

- reading performance: A Texas multiyear study. *Athens Journal of Education*, 6(3), 189–208. https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.6-3-2
- Mckeown, D., Brindle, M., Sandmel, K., Steinbrecher, T. D., Graham, S., Lane, K. L., & Oakes, W. P. (2019). Teachers' voices: Perceptions of effective [PD] and class wide implementation of self-regulated strategy development in writing. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(3), 753–791.
  https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218804146
- McKeown, M. G. (2019). Effective vocabulary instruction fosters knowing words, using words, and understanding how words work. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50*(4), 466–476. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0126">https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0126</a>
- Muyunda, G. (2021). Re-entry policy implementation effectiveness: A case of secondary schools in Lusaka, district, Zambia. *International Journal of Asian Education*, 2 (2), 167–181. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46966/ijae.v2i2.151">https://doi.org/10.46966/ijae.v2i2.151</a>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). State Profiles. U.S. Dept. of Education,

  Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

  <a href="https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2019R3">https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2019R3</a>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019a). *State Profiles*. U.S. Dept. of Education,

  Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

  <a href="https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2017R3">https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=RED&sj=AL&sfj=NP&st=AP&year=2017R3</a>

- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices, & Council of Chief State

  School Officers. (2010). Common Core State Standards for [ELA]: Introduction.

  <a href="http://www.corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/">http://www.corestandards.org/ELA-Literacy/</a>
- Navy, S. L., Maeng, J. L., & Bell, R. L. (2019). Learning from a state [PD] conference for science teachers: Beginning secondary science teachers' experiences. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 30(4), 409–428.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2019.1584512
- Neitzel, A. J., Lake, C., Pellegrini, M., & Slavin, R. E. (2022). A Synthesis of quantitative research on programs for struggling readers in elementary schools. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 57(1), 149-179. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.379
- Ozbay, I., & Karaoglu, S. (2022). Reflection of policy documents in early years' educational settings during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 17(7), 198–208. http://doi.org/10.5897/ERR2022.4249
- Pletcher, B. C., Hudson, A. K., & Watson, K. (2019). "I want to learn from them as much as I want them to learn from me": Finding a balance of coaching and consulting through the analysis of a literacy coach's conversations. *Reading Horizons*, 58(1), 48–74. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/reading horizons/vol58/iss1/4
- Polly, D., & Byker, E. (2020). Considering the role of zone of proximal development and constructivism in supporting teachers' TPACK and effective use of technology.

  \*Revista de Educación a Distancia, 20(64). <a href="http://doi.org/10.6018/red.408661">http://doi.org/10.6018/red.408661</a>
- Pomerantez, F., & Pierce, M. (2019). "When do we get to read?" Reading instruction and literacy coaching in a "failed" urban elementary school. *Reading Improvement*,

- *56*(2), 89–106.
- Power, K. & Goodnaugh, K. (2019). Fostering teacher's autonomous motivation during professional learning: A self-determination theory perspective. *Teaching Education*, 30(3), 278–298. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1465035">https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1465035</a>
- Sari, L. E. (2020). The significance of parental involvement in early childhood inclusion. Scientific Repository, 3(2), 92. https://doi.org/10.26740/inklusi.v3n2.p92-101
- Schutz, K. M., & Rainey, E. C. (2020). Making sense of modeling in elementary literacy instruction. *The Reading Teacher*, 73(4), 443-451.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1863">https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1863</a>
- See, B. H., Morris, R., Gorard, S., & El Soufi, N. (2020). What works in attracting and retaining teachers in challenging schools and areas? *Oxford Review of Education*, 46(6), 678-697. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2020.1775566
- Seidenberg, M. S., Cooper Borkenhagen, M., & Kearns, D. M. (2020). Lost in translation? Challenges in connecting reading science and educational practice. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55, S119–S130. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.341">https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.341</a>
- Slavin, R. E. (2020). How evidence-based reform will transform research and practice in education. *Educational Psychologist*, *55*(1), 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1611432
- Sprott, R. A. (2019). Factors that foster and deter advanced teachers' professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 321-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.11.001
- Tawfik, A. A., Gishbaugher, J. J., Gatewood, J., & Arrington, T. L. (2021). How K-12

- teachers adapt problem-based learning over time. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 15(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.14434/ijpbl.v15i1.29662">https://doi.org/10.14434/ijpbl.v15i1.29662</a>
- Taylor, L. A. (2021). Scaffolding literacy learning through talk: Stance as a pedagogical tool. *The Reading Teacher*, 74(4), 375–383. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1958
- Thibodeaux, T., Harapnuik, D., & Cummings, C. (2019). Student perceptions of the influence of choice, and voice in learning and the learning environment.

  International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 31(1), 50–62. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1206966.pdf
- Tortorelli, L. S., Lupo, S. M., & Wheatley, B. C. (2021). Examining teacher preparation for code-related reading instruction: An integrated literature review. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 56(S1). https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.396
- Van Geel, M., Keuning, T., Frèrejean, J., Dolmans, D., van Merriënboer, J., & Visscher,
  A. J. (2019). Capturing the complexity of differentiated instruction. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 30(1), 51–67.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2018.1539013
- Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1993). The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky: *The fundamentals of defectology (abnormal psychology and learning disabilities)*. Springer.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (2011). The Dynamics of the Schoolchild's Mental Development in Relation to Teaching and Learning. *Journal of Cognitive Education and Psychology*, 10(2), 198–211. https://doi.org/10.1891/1945-8959.10.2.198

# Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Elementary ELA Teachers

Interview Questions and Procedures for Elementary Teacher Experiences Implementing

Required ELA Instructional Strategies

Гeacher:	Grade:	Date:	Time:

Interviewer: Amanda Slaysman

# **Participant Interview Procedure:**

- Introduce myself and introduce the purpose of the study. Read the introduction from the script.
- 2. Ask participants to share concerns and questions.
- 3. Inform and gain consent for recording.
- 4. Confirm consent to participate.
- 5. Inform participants of the right to withdraw.
- 6. Schedule the date and time of the second interview to review and confirm findings.

## **Introduction:**

Thank you for your time and participation in this interview session for my doctoral study. My name is Amanda Slaysman, and I will be conducting this interview. By participating, you will provide me the opportunity to collect information associated with the implementation of instructional strategies in your ELA classroom. You are invited to participate because you are currently employed in the study site as a 1<sup>st</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> grade ELA teacher, you are familiar with ELA strategies that are outlined in the ELA curriculum (including adult guidance and peer collaboration), and you work at the study site full-time. Your participation is confidential and voluntary. The duration of the interview will be approximately 30-45 minutes, and with your consent, it will be audio recorded. Recording this session will allow me to effectively transcribe the exact words spoken and assure greater accuracy of capturing your responses. Do you have any questions? If you consent to the audio recording, please say "I consent."

Framework: Adult Guidance and Scaffolding

**Interview Items to address RQ1**: What are the teacher experiences implementing required ELA instructional strategies in Grades 1 through 5?

- 1. What instructional strategies do you implement in your ELA classroom when responding to your students' learning needs?
- 2. How do you utilize instructional strategies to develop students' independence on an ELA skill?

- 3. What ways do you facilitate learning in your ELA classroom that involve peer collaboration?
- 4. What instructional strategies do you find the most effective in facilitating learning in your ELA classroom that involve adult guidance, when responding to your students' literacy needs?

Framework: Learning as an Active and Social Process

**Interview Items to address RQ2**: RQ 2: What are the challenges teachers report when implementing required ELA strategies in Grades 1 through 5?

- 1. What challenges you have faced when implementing or attempting to implement instructional strategies in your ELA classroom involving peer collaboration?
- 2. What challenges you have faced when implementing or attempting to implement instructional strategies in your ELA classroom involving adult guidance?
- 3. What supports from the school/district would you find the most helpful in overcoming the challenges, you described?
- 4. Is there anything you would like to add?

Appendix C: Project Evaluation: Focus Group Discussion Questions

Thank you for agreeing to participate in the focus group discussion regarding the goals of the policy revisions that took place this quarter. The recent policy revisions were developed from a research study that explored teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing required instructional strategies in ELA to meet student learning needs. The policy recommendations were developed from the findings of the study. The recommendations included revising the description of school-based policy to include the following:

- School-based PD opportunities are responsive to teachers' learning needs in ELA instruction through engagement with educational research related to required instructional strategies.
- PD experiences are ongoing and scaffolded to provide clarity and support for teachers in implementing ELA instructional strategies by a more knowledgeable colleague.
- PD at the school level is designed to address teachers' feedback and offer choice.
- The implementation of a continuous process where teachers are directly involved in the revision and development of school policies involving PD.

One of the goals of the policy revisions was to develop an implementation plan for utilizing required instructional strategies that address individual learner needs and challenges in ELA that teachers face related to learner variability. To fully understand if this goal has been met, your participation in a discussion on the following questions is requested. The question responses will only serve to evaluate the policy revisions and give you [elementary ELA teachers/policy implementors] the opportunity to have your voice heard and be partners in policy development and revisions.

- 1. Compared to last quarter, has your knowledge of educational research pertaining to elementary ELA instructional strategies changed? If so, please describe how.
- 2. What have been your biggest takeaways from PD this quarter, pertaining to implementation of ELA instructional strategies identified in district policies?
- 3. The policy revisions were directly related to challenges that teachers reported involving learner variability (lack of time, lack of preparedness/relevant and realistic teacher training, lack of clarity and support, student behavior). Please share your feelings on the items listed.
- 4. Are there specific issues or concerns related to implementing ELA instructional strategies that you would like to discuss in upcoming PD sessions? If so, please identify.